Communications in Mathematical Physics



# Cheshire Cat Resurgence, Self-Resurgence and Quasi-Exact Solvable Systems

Can Kozçaz<sup>1,2,</sup> , Tin Sulejmanpasic<sup>3,4</sup>, Yuya Tanizaki<sup>5</sup>, Mithat Ünsal<sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Center of Mathematical Sciences and Applications, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA. E-mail: kozcaz@cmsa.fas.harvard.edu
- <sup>2</sup> Jefferson Physical Laboratory, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Physics, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, 27695, USA.
- E-mail: tin.sulejmanpasic@gmail.com; unsal.mithat@gmail.com
- <sup>4</sup> Philippe Meyer Institute for Theoretical Physics, Physics Department, École Normale Supérieure, PSL Research University, 24 rue Lhomond, 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France
- <sup>5</sup> RIKEN BNL Research Center, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, NY 11973, USA. E-mail: tanizaki@bnl.gov

Received: 24 April 2017 / Accepted: 14 November 2017 Published online: 24 October 2018 – © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2018

Abstract: We explore a one parameter  $\zeta$ -deformation of the quantum-mechanical Sine-Gordon and Double-Well potentials which we call the Double Sine-Gordon (DSG) and the Tilted Double Well (TDW), respectively. In these systems, for positive integer values of  $\zeta$ , the lowest  $\zeta$  states turn out to be exactly solvable for DSG—a feature known as Quasi-Exact-Solvability (QES)-and solvable to all orders in perturbation theory for TDW. For DSG such states do not show any instanton-like dependence on the coupling constant, although the action has real saddles. On the other hand, although it has no real saddles, the TDW admits all-orders perturbative states that are not normalizable, and hence, requires a non-perturbative energy shift. Both of these puzzles are solved by including complex saddles. We show that the convergence is dictated by the quantization of the hidden topological angle. Further, we argue that the QES systems can be linked to the exact cancellation of real and complex non-perturbative saddles to all orders in the semi-classical expansion. We also show that the entire resurgence structure remains encoded in the analytic properties of the  $\zeta$ -deformation, even though exactly at integer values of  $\zeta$  the mechanism of resurgence is obscured by the lack of ambiguity in both the Borel sum of the perturbation theory as well as the non-perturbative contributions. In this way, all of the characteristics of resurgence remains even when its role seems to vanish, much like the lingering grin of the Cheshire Cat. We also show that the perturbative series is Self-resurgent—a feature by which there is a one-to-one relation between the early terms of the perturbative expansion and the late terms of the same expansion-which is intimately connected with the Dunne-Ünsal relation. We explicitly verify that this is indeed the case.

# Contents

1.	Introduction and Results	836
	1.1 The fermions and the $\zeta$ -deformed systems	839
	1.2 The nature of the perturbation expansion	840

	1.3 The role of complex saddles in the semiclassical analysis	843
	1.4 Supersymmetry and quasi-exact solvability	844
	1.5 Two puzzles of QES	844
	1.6 Cheshire Cat resurgence	845
	1.7 Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation	846
2.	Resolving Puzzle 1: The Double Sine-Gordon system	848
	2.1 Quasi-exact solvability for $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$	849
	2.1.1 Exact solutions for $\zeta = 1, 2, 3$ , and 4	851
	2.1.2 General $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ case and Ince-polynomials	853
	2.2 Complex saddles and the role of the hidden topological angle	853
	2.3 The general $\zeta$ -deformed theory	855
	2.3.1 Exactly solvablity from perturbation theory for $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$	855
	2.3.2 Asymptotic corrections from the Bender–Wu analysis	855
	2.4 Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation	856
3.	Resolving Puzzle 2: Tilted Double-Well	859
	3.1 Pseudo-QES	859
	3.1.1 $\zeta = 1, 2, 3, 4$ perturbatively exact solutions	860
	3.2 Complex saddles and the role of the hidden topological angle	863
	3.3 Bender–Wu method for the $\zeta$ -deformed theory	864
	3.3.1 All orders perturbation theory	864
	3.3.2 Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation.	866
4.	Connection to Quantum Field Theory	869
5.	Conclusion and Outlook	870
A.	Tables for Perturbative Coefficients	872
Ref	erences	875

### 1. Introduction and Results

For many quantum systems, perturbation theory is widely employed successfully to obtain approximate results. Following the immense success of the perturbative treatment of Quantum Electrodynamics, which resulted in a Nobel Prize shared by Tomonaga, Schwinger, and Feynman in 1965, perturbation theory and Feynman diagrams became firmly associated with *Quantum Field Theory*. Indeed, concepts such as the renormalization group, Bjorken scaling, running couplings, and asymptotic freedom are just some of the concepts intimately tied to the utility and indispensability of the perturbation theory.

Nevertheless, already as early as 1952, Dyson gave a physical argument that analytic continuation of the electric charge  $e^2 \rightarrow -e^2$  would cause an instability, effectively indicating that in Quantum Electrodynamics—the simplest and most accurately verified quantum field theory manifested in nature—the radius of convergence of the perturbative expansion is zero [1]. Since then it has become clear that this is a generic feature of both quantum mechanical as well as field theory systems, with a typical divergence rate being factorial. It is for this reason that perturbation theory fails to define a quantum field theory, or even, indeed, quantum mechanics.

Perhaps unsurprisingly, while the successes of perturbation theory are commonly praised and a matter of textbook knowledge, its apparent deficits deeply rooted in its structure are more often than not either overlooked or tacitly ignored. While this point of view is sometimes necessary and sometimes useful, it turns a blind eye to the beautiful and intricate structure hidden in the perturbative expansion and its stubborn insistence on diverging. The question then is what is the meaning, if any, of such series.

A celebrated way to make sense of factorially diverging series is to tame them by a special transformation-the Borel transform, which renders the series convergent. The Laplace transform of this sum gives rise to another function-the Borel sum-which has the same asymptotic expansion as the original series but assigns a finite value to it. If this can be done in a unique way, the series is said to be Borel summable. Still the Borel transform often has singularities in generic cases which may render the Borel sum ambiguous. The goal of resurgence theory is to describe the global nature of the solution by analyzing these singularities and ambiguities they may cause [2-6]. For instance, if those singularities lie on the positive real axis, we might have to avoid these poles by going around them in the complex plane. Different deformations introduce imaginary ambiguities for physical observables, e.g. for energy levels. At first, we might be tempted to abandon this prescription due to this kind of pathological results once and for all. Nevertheless, remarkably and perhaps surprisingly, the pathology of perturbation theory turns out to be inextricably linked to the non-perturbative physics [7–16]. In other words, the ambiguity caused by the divergence and non-Borel summability of the small coupling expansion serves as a placeholder, much like a pattern of a jigsaw puzzle, stitching perturbative and non-perturbative contributions in such a way to eliminate all ambiguities. The study, analysis and understanding of such phenomena are known as resurgence theory.

The resurgence theory developed by Écalle [2] (in the context of non-linear differential equations) is proficient enough to encode the subtle information around different saddles by replacing the conventional perturbation series with transseries. The transseries not only consist of a power series in the coupling constant, but also include non-analytic terms relevant to instanton contributions and the integration over their quasi-moduli. The power of resurgence theory lies in the possibility that it may provide a consistent manner to take into account the presence of all saddle points under certain physical requirements. More concretely, it connects the perturbative fluctuations around different saddles via intricate relations with each other and respects the monodromy properties of the underlying quantum system. There has been an ever growing set of physical systems where resurgence theory resolves some puzzles and reveals surprises related to semi-classical analysis, such as the semi-classical interpretation and the role of renormalon-like singularities [17-22], the relation between perturbation theories among different saddles [9,23–26], stabilization of center symmetry in super Yang–Mills theory [27,28], Borel summability of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  super Yang–Mills [17, 18, 29], the meaning and limits of the Bogomolny–Zinn-Justin prescription [30,31], the vanishing gluon condensate in SUSY gauge theories [30], the role of multi-instantons in  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  [30, 32] and  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  [31] quantum mechanics, role of "instantons" and complex solutions in the Gross-Witten theory [33], as well as an abundance of work ranging from quantum mechanics to general quantum field theory to string theory [10, 14, 16, 34-52].

In this work, we aim to solve yet another puzzle related to systems for which a part of the spectrum can be solved at isolated points in the parameter space. Such special systems, pioneered by Turbiner, are dubbed *Quasi-Exactly Solvable (QES) systems* [53– 55], and as a rule they never have essential singularities of the type  $e^{-1/g}$ . Perturbation theory in QES for the relevant part of the spectrum systems is convergent. However, such systems often have real non-trivial saddles for which it seems impossible to argue that they do not contribute, in contradiction with the absence of contributions of the type  $e^{-1/g}$ . Furthermore, related set of systems, which we call pseudo-QES systems, have a completely convergent perturbation expansions even though they cannot be solved exactly. In both QES and pseudo-QES systems we could rightfully argue that there is no need of Borel summation, since the perturbation series is convergent and therefore well-defined. A trivial example of this situation is already given by the ground state of SUSY Quantum Mechanics [56], which is zero to all orders of perturbation theory. Because of this the Borel plane is free from singularities, rendering the perturbation expansion trivially unambiguous. Hence, one may be tempted to conclude that perturbative and non-perturbative effects are completely disconnected. While this statement is not in contradiction with resurgence, it would appear that the role of resurgence in these systems is trivial, as the different sectors appear to be independent from each other and no cancellation among them is required. We will argue the situation is more subtle, and that resurgence governs the interplay between different sectors encoded in the analytical properties of all the various contributions. So, much like the grin of the mythological Cheshire cat, resurgent properties linger even when its main role seems to vanish. For this reason we call this property Cheshire Cat resurgence.<sup>1</sup>

Finally, we discuss a remarkable property of the perturbative expansion of the energy levels in these systems: self-resurgence. Namely, because the crucial contribution to the energy is coming from a complex saddle, which generically gives a complex contribution to the energy (except when the hidden topological angle is quantized). It is well known that large-order coefficients of perturbative expansion around the perturbative vacuum are determined by the lower-order terms of the perturbation expansion around a complex saddle, such as instanton-anti-instanton saddle. On the other hand, the lower-order terms of perturbative expansion *around the trivial vacuum* via the generalization of Dunne–Ünsal relation [10] to these system, as shown in this work. By transitivity, we are therefore able to establish a one-to-one relation between the early terms of the perturbation series is connected to the work of Dingle<sup>2</sup> [57] where self-resurgence appears in expansions of functions which are themselves resurgence functions.

In this work, we address the following questions to shed more light on the resurgent structure of perturbation theory and to better understand the relevance of the resurgence theory in quantum systems. We consider the following questions:

- When does an all-order convergent perturbation expansion converges? When does it give an exact answer?
- What is the role of non-perturbative complex saddles and quantization of hidden topological angles in path integrals and in connection to the convergence of perturbation expansions?

Addressing these questions allows us to explore the connections between various approaches to quantum mechanical systems including

- (1) The nature of perturbation theory: convergent vs. asymptotic,
- (2) The nature of complex saddles: quantized *vs*. unquantized hidden topological angles (associated with the saddles of holomorphized path integrals),
- (3) Supersymmetry and QES vs. non-solvability,<sup>3</sup>
- (4) Resurgence in disguise vs. explicit resurgence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Many thanks to Thomas Schäfer pointing out the analogy.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  We are thankful to M.V. Berry for sharing the early manuscript with us.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Algebraically non-solvable systems may potentially be solvable in the sense of a resurgent-transseries.

We demonstrate that these properties are intimately related: the left and right of the *vs*. in four categories are interconnected. Quite possibly, these connections transcends quantum mechanics and generalize to QFT. In particular, we expect that the quantization of the hidden topological angle implies convergence of perturbation theory for some states, even in QFT. See Sect. 4.

We study a one-parameter,  $\zeta$ , family of quantum mechanical systems. Varying  $\zeta$  will allow us to interpolate between a purely bosonic theory and quantum mechanical systems with fermions. The integer values of  $\zeta$  are particularly interesting since we recover the simplest supersymmetric quantum mechanics when  $\zeta = 1$ , and for other positive integer values of  $\zeta$  the lowest  $\zeta$  eigenstates are algebraically solvable. As soon as  $\zeta$  differs from an integer value, the system ceases to be solvable, and its perturbation expansion diverges. For this one-parameter family of quantum systems, the ones with convergent perturbation expansion consist of a measure-zero subset, and live as limits of generic values of  $\zeta$ . In other words, resurgence theory connects the perturbative and non-perturbative sectors and guarantees that the observable is well defined in terms of the trans-series for any generic value of  $\zeta$ . All these relations survive the special values of  $\zeta$  as well, where resurgence cancellation seemingly disappear, a phenomenon which we dubbed Cheshire Cat resurgence.

This work also unifies various approaches to understand quantum mechanical systems parametrized by  $\zeta$ , including studies of the perturbation theory via the Bender–Wu method<sup>4</sup> [58–60], the semi-classical analysis and holomorphization of path integral within Picard–Lefschetz theory [15,30], supersymmetric quantum mechanics [61,62] and quasi-exact solvability [63,64], and resurgence theory applied to quantum mechanics [9,10,65]. In the course of exploring these connections, we also resolve some old standing puzzles in the literature related to the topics mentioned above. For various known aspects, we give new streamlined arguments. In the remainder of the Introduction we will introduce the two models we study and review the main conclusions of the paper.

The paper is organized as follows: In the rest of this section we discuss our setup, our main results and two puzzles related to the QES systems. Sections 2 and 3 are dedicated to the detailed resolution of these two puzzles: Cheshire Cat resurgence and the self-resurgence properties in DSG and TDW systems, respectively. In Sect. 4 we discuss possible connections and parallels with QFT, while in Sect. 5 we give conclusions and summary.

1.1. The fermions and the  $\zeta$ -deformed systems. The main outcome of this work is most simply described by considering the Euclidean bosonic Lagrangians of the type,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\zeta}^{E} = \frac{1}{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} \dot{x}^{2} + V(x) \right) \quad V(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( W'(x) \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \zeta g W''(x), \tag{1.1}$$

where W(x) is auxiliary potential, V(x) is the potential, g is the coupling, and  $\zeta$  is a deformation parameter whose consequence we explore. We say that the theory is purely bosonic when  $\zeta = 0$ . The  $\zeta = \pm 1$  cases are Fermi–Bose sectors (or spin up/down sectors) of supersymmetric quantum mechanics, where W(x) is called the super-potential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The mathematica package BenderWu developed in [58] was used throughout this work. An up to date version can be freely obtained from the Wolfram package repository at http://library.wolfram.com/infocenter/MathSource/9479/.

We further assume that there are instanton solutions in the purely bosonic theory, but this assumption can be dropped for generalization.

Quantum mechanics defined by the Lagrangian (1.2) has a formal similarity with some quantum field theories, such as adjoint QCD. To motivate this, let us consider a quantum mechanical systems with one bosonic and  $N_f$  Grassmann valued fields:

$$\mathcal{L}^{E} = \frac{1}{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} \dot{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left( W'(x) \right)^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} i (\overline{\psi}_{i} \dot{\psi}_{i} - \dot{\overline{\psi}}_{i} \psi_{i}) + \frac{1}{2} W''(x) [\overline{\psi}_{i}, \psi_{i}], \quad i = 1, \dots, N_{f}$$
(1.2)

Because of the fermion flavor symmetry of (1.2), this quantum system is decomposed into superselection sectors defined by fermion number k with degeneracy  $\binom{N_f}{k}$ :

$$H = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{N_f} H_{(N_f,k)}.$$
(1.3)

The Hamiltonian for level k is

$$H_{(N_f,k)} = \frac{g}{2} \frac{p^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2g} \left( W'(x) \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} (2k - N_f) W''(x), \qquad k = 0, \dots, N_f.$$
(1.4)

We now find that  $\zeta$  in (1.2) is a generalization of  $2k - N_f$ , and the  $\frac{1}{2}\zeta g W''(x)$  term should be viewed as a fermion loop effect. The graded decomposition (1.3) is a generalization of the Bose–Fermi paired Hamiltonians of supersymmetric system.

Although it is not a priori clear how the ideas around QES systems (related to integer values of  $\zeta$  in Lagrangians in (1.2)) generalize to QFT, the way such systems are presented in (1.2) has an obvious generalization to QFT. In fact, the Lagrangian (1.2) is inspired from the multi-fermion quantum field theory. For example, consider a non-linear sigma model in 2d and add to it a fermionic super-partner, and then continue adding  $N_f$  fermionic flavors [19,20]. Alternatively, consider adding adjoint representation fermions to 4d Yang–Mills, which becomes supersymmetric at  $N_f = 1$ , and some multi-flavor theory for  $N_f \geq 2$ . There is by now evidence that these QFTs are special in some ways, and carry over some of the interesting aspects of supersymmetric theory [66,67]. See Sect. 4 for a summary.

The QM systems with Lagrangians (1.2) also appear in other contexts. For example,

- Bosonic coordinate x(t) and one Grassmann valued coordinate ψ(t), with a deformation of the Yukawa term by the parameter ζ [68].
- Bosonic coordinate x(t), and W''(x(t)) ("magnetic field") coupled to spin in Bloch representation, via an abelian Berry phase term [15].  $\zeta$  acquires an interpretation as analytic continuation of the spin quantum number.

See Ref. [15] for a more detailed discussion.

1.2. The nature of the perturbation expansion. In general, the perturbative expansion in powers of coupling constant g is a divergent asymptotic expansion because of the factorial growth of coefficients. According to resurgence, the asymptotic nature of the perturbative series is caused by the existence of the other saddles of the action (see, e.g., [11-13] for examples of one-dimensional integrals). A way to make sense out of divergent asymptotic expansion is the lateral Borel sum, i.e., directional Laplace integration



**Fig. 1.** For integer  $\zeta$ , perturbation theory for lowest  $\zeta$  states is convergent (e.g.  $\zeta = 1$  is the supersymmetric case), but others are divergent. For non-integer  $\zeta$ , perturbation theory for all states is asymptotic. The energy bands of the DSG system describe dependence of energy levels on the topological  $\theta$  angle

of the Borel transform. The Borel sum assigns a holomorphic function on a Stokes sector to the asymptotic series. At least in one-dimensional integrals, the geometric realization of Borel resummation is the integration over the Lefschetz thimbles, see for example [14]. This procedure identifies higher order terms of the perturbative series around the perturbative vacuum with low order terms of the asymptotic expansion around another saddle.

In the case of quantum mechanics, Plancks constant  $\hbar$  or the coupling g is an expansion parameter and takes positive values. In many examples, the Borel transform has a singularity on the positive real axis, which causes an imaginary ambiguity in the Borel sum. Bogomolny and Zinn-Justin illustrated that the ambiguity is canceled by an instanton–anti-instanton contribution [7,8], and this motivates that resurgence works also for quantum mechanics. This was originally demonstrated for the leading asymptotic growth, but its generalization to all orders is given in [9,10]. There is a proposal to give a geometric interpretation of this Bogomolny–Zinn-Justin prescription in terms of Lefschetz thimbles, see the discussion in Section 4 of [15] and [16].

In order to tell our story more concretely, we will use two exemplary Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{g}{2} p^2 + \frac{1}{2g} \Big( W'(x)^2 + \zeta g W''(x) \Big), \tag{1.5}$$

with

$$W(x) = -\omega \cos x$$
, Double Sine Gordon (DSG)  
 $W(x) = \frac{x^3}{3} - \frac{\omega^2}{4}x$ , Tilted Double Well (TDW) (1.6)

for general values of  $\zeta$ . However, we believe our findings generalize to all potentials discussed [64] straightforwardly, as well as to all of the Quasi-Exactly solvable systems [53–55].

Let  $E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  denote perturbative expansion of the energy for the level number  $\nu$  with ( $\nu = 0$  is the ground state)

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n(\nu, \zeta) g^n = a_0(\nu, \zeta) + a_1(\nu, \zeta) g + a_2(\nu, \zeta) g^2 + \cdots$$
(1.7)

By examining the large-orders of perturbation theory with the method of Bender and Wu [59,60] generalized in [58] to arbitrary potentials, we find that the large-order behavior of the expansion coefficients for a level  $\nu$  behaves as<sup>5</sup>

$$a_{n}(\nu,\zeta) \sim -\frac{\mathcal{M}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\nu!} \frac{1}{(2A^{2})^{\zeta-2\nu-1}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)} \frac{(n-\zeta+2\nu)!}{(S_{b})^{n-\zeta+2\nu+1}} \times \left( b_{0}(\nu,\zeta) + \frac{S_{b} b_{1}(\nu,\zeta)}{n-\zeta+2\nu} + \frac{S_{b}^{2} b_{2}(\nu,\zeta)}{(n-\zeta+2\nu)(n-\zeta+2\nu-1)} + \cdots \right), \quad (1.8)$$

where

A, 
$$\mathcal{M} = 2$$
,  $S_b = 2S_I = 2 \times 2 = 4$  DSG,  
A,  $\mathcal{M} = 1$ ,  $S_b = 2S_I = 2 \times \frac{1}{6} = \frac{1}{3}$  TDW. (1.9)

Here,  $S_I$  is the instanton action,  $S_b = 2S_I$  is the complex-bion action, A is the coefficient defined by (note that we set the natural frequency  $\omega$  to unity)

$$A = \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \dot{x}_I(t) e^{|t|}, \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $x_I(t)$  is the instanton solution, and  $\mathcal{M}$  comes from the multiplicity of the complexbion solution.<sup>6</sup> At this stage,  $b_i(v, \zeta)$  just describes correction terms, which can in general depend on  $\zeta$ . Shortly we will see that  $b_i(v, \zeta)$  is related to perturbation theory around the complex saddles in an interesting way shortly.

Equation (1.8) deserves multiple comments. It indeed exhibits the generic  $\frac{n!}{(2S_I)^n}$  growth, but there is a curious  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)}$  pre-factor which makes things rather interesting:

- (1a) For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , the leading asymptotic part of the perturbative expansion *vanishes* for level numbers  $\nu \leq |\zeta 1|$ . By using an exact Bender–Wu analysis, we also demonstrate that the perturbative expansion for those  $\zeta$  levels is *convergent*. The natural question is what is special for this class of theories?
- (1b) For  $\zeta \notin \mathbb{N}^+$ , the perturbative expansion for all levels is asymptotic. They are asymptotic in an expected manner  $\sim \frac{n!}{(2S_\ell)^n}$ . This is the generic behavior.

For  $\zeta = 1$ , the theory is supersymmetric and perturbative expansion for the ground state  $\nu = 0$  vanishes. However, perturbation theory for higher states yields asymptotic expansions. For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  deformed theories, more states have convergent perturbation series. See Fig. 1 which summarizes these findings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We determined this growth in two independent ways. By using complex instanton/bion calculus, and assuming resurgence cancellation of the imaginary parts, this behavior is required. On the other hand we explicitly computed the perturbative coefficients via the BenderWu analysis, in excellent agreement with the instanton/bion calculus. The relation of the asymptotic growth to instantons and bions is the reason that the factors  $\mathcal{M}$ , A and  $S_b$ , characterizing the nature of the complex-bion appear. This will be discussed in detail in the rest of the paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In other words, while there is only one complex solution contributing to the double well potential, for the double sine-Gordon there are two complex bion solutions.

1.3. The role of complex saddles in the semiclassical analysis. In Ref. [15], it was argued that a consistent semi-classical analysis requires the inclusion of complex saddles in the semi-classical expansion. This requires that the real coordinate x(t) is promoted to the complex coordinate z(t) = x(t) + iy(t), and that the path integral is performed over complex integration cycles passing through the saddles. The saddles are, in general, solutions to the holomorphic Newton's equation in the inverted potential. In this way, complex saddle solutions are found contributing to the ground state energy. Because of their complex nature and their relationship to instanton–anti-instanton, they are called complex bions.<sup>7</sup>

The leading non-perturbative contribution of complex bion  $[CB]_{\pm}$  (or equivalently instanton–anti-instanton  $[\mathcal{I}\overline{\mathcal{I}}]_{\pm}$ ) saddle to the energy level  $\nu$  is given by,

$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = [\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm} = [\mathcal{I}\overline{\mathcal{I}}]_{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\mathcal{M}}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2A^2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \Gamma(\zeta - \nu) e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta - \nu)} \times e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + \cdots\right),$$
(1.11)

where *A* and *S<sub>b</sub>* are defined in (1.9). The phase of  $e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta-\nu)}$  is the phase associated with the complex saddle and its descent manifold, and is called the *hidden topological angle* (HTA) [15,30]. The sum  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} b_n(\nu, \zeta) g^n \equiv \mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  denotes perturbative fluctuations around the complex saddle contributions to level  $\nu$ . The HTA of the complex bion solution turns out to be extremely important for resolving some outstanding puzzles stemming from the QES solutions.

The imaginary ambiguous parts of the complex bion amplitude can be found by using the reflection formula  $\Gamma(\zeta - \nu) \sin \pi(\zeta - \nu) = \frac{\pi}{\Gamma(1-\zeta+\nu)}$  for the Gamma-function:

Im 
$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \mp \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathcal{M}}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2A^2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1}$$
  
$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1 + \nu - \zeta)} e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + \cdots\right)$$
(1.12)

Just like the Bender–Wu large order result (1.8), there is again intriguing structure associated with this formula which distinguishes  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  due to the curious factor  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)}$  in (1.12):

- (2a) For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , for which the hidden topological angle is quantized, the imaginary ambiguity in the energy disappears. What is again special for this class of theories?
- (2b) For  $\zeta \notin \mathbb{N}^+$ , the Borel sum of (1.8) is ambiguous and has an imaginary ambiguity. This ambiguity must be exactly canceled by the imaginary part of the complex-bion contribution in (1.12), as the energy spectrum must be real.

We also note that there exists a real bion configuration for the DSG system, but there is no such configuration for the TDW. The real bion is a real saddle, and hence, it does not possess an HTA. The real bion contribution to energy level  $\nu$  is given by:

$$E^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = [\mathcal{R}B] = [\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}] = -\frac{\mathcal{M}}{2\pi} \frac{(-1)^{\nu}}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2A^2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \Gamma(\zeta - \nu) \\ \times e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + \cdots\right)$$
(1.13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The complex bion is an exact solution in the  $\zeta$ -deformed theory. For small  $\zeta g$ , It can approximately be described as an instanton-anti-instanton correlated pair integrated over its quasi-zero mode Lefschetz thimble. We will use both instanton language and bion language interchangeably (see the discussion in [15]).

Note that for the ground state the real bion always reduces the energy, while for the excited states non-perturbative contribution alternates as  $(-1)^{\nu}$ . Also note that the multiplicity  $\mathcal{M}$  of the real bion is again  $\mathcal{M} = 2$ , just like that of the complex bion.

*1.4. Supersymmetry and quasi-exact solvability.* Both the quantization of the hidden topological angle as well as convergence of perturbation expansions for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  suggest that there must be something very special about these QM systems. In particular, these systems must realize some generalization of supersymmetric quantum mechanics. Indeed, this turns out to be the case.

For either W(x) given in (1.6) as well as a very large-class of W(x) studied in [64], we believe that the perturbation expansions for the lowest lying  $\zeta$  states are always convergent for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . The question then is whether there is a non-vanishing non-perturbative contribution or not? This is equivalent to the question of dynamical supersymmetry breaking in the  $\zeta = 1$  system:

• When  $e^{+W(x)}$  is normalizable, the first  $\zeta$  states of the  $\zeta$ -deformed theory are algebraically solvable with the following wave functions,

$$\Psi_i(x) = P_i(\xi(x))e^{+W(x)}, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, \zeta - 1, \tag{1.14}$$

where  $P_i$  is a set of polynomials in the natural variable  $\xi(x)$  of the problem. For  $\zeta = 1$ , this means that supersymmetry is unbroken.

• When  $e^{+W(x)}$  is non-normalizable, non-vanishing non-perturbative contribution must exist. The reason is that this solution is generated by perturbation theory, so it is an exact all-orders perturbative answer. However, since this state does not belong to the Hilbert space due to its non-normalizability, the true energy must be non-perturbatively shifted to amend it. The situation is entirely parallel in the case the supersymmetric limit when  $\zeta = 1$ , in which case the supersymmetry is dynamically broken by non-perturbative effects [56].

In both cases, the perturbative expansion for the first  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  states converges.

1.5. Two puzzles of QES. At this point, we wish to point out that our work also explains a puzzle emanating from the literature of the QES systems<sup>8</sup>:

- (**Puzzle 1**) For the DSG, the lowest  $\zeta$  states are algebraically solvable. The exact energy expressions are algebraic in the coupling constant, g. At the same time, this system has obvious real instanton type saddles (what we called real bion). This would potentially give a non-algebraic contribution  $e^{-S_b/g}$  to the energy. From the exact solutions it can be explicitly seen that no such non-perturbative terms appear.
- (**Puzzle 2**) For the TDW, the lowest  $\zeta$  states are not algebraically solvable. These are not QES systems, but their perturbative expansions converge. Since the allorder perturbative result does not belong to the Hilbert space (i.e. is not normalizable), there must exist a non-perturbative shift in energy of the form  $e^{-S_b/g}$ , but there are no such real saddles for such a system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We would like to thank Edward Shuryak and Sasha Turbiner for drawing our attention to these puzzles.

We show that the resolution of these puzzles are given by the realization that apart from the real saddle contributions, there exists another contribution, the *complex bion*: **Puzzle 1** is solved because non-perturbative contributions coming from real and complex bions *exactly* cancel for the lowest  $\zeta$  states; see Sect. 2. **Puzzle 2** is solved because there exist complex bions contributing to the energy level  $\nu$ , and no real non-perturbative saddle to compensate it; see Sect. 3. This provides further evidence that complex paths and saddles are integral to the semi-classical expansion.

We also find that the convergence of perturbative expansions at these special points in the parameter space is *insufficient* in order to judge whether perturbation theory gives an exact answer, and that cancellation between contributions of real and complex nonperturbative saddles gives a condition for perturbation theory being exact. To employ the power of resurgence, such systems must be studied as integer limits of  $\zeta$ . This type of resurgence we call the Cheshire Cat resurgence, and discuss it next.



(The Cheshire Cat, artist credit: Roman Sulejmanpasic)

1.6. Cheshire Cat resurgence. <sup>9</sup> In our examples, the perturbation series is convergent for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . As convergent series implies no ambiguity, it would seem that the role of resurgence in such systems is trivial as no cancellation between sectors is required, so we could not know whether complex bions contribute. We shall nevertheless see that convergence of perturbation theory does not hold under a tiny deformation of the theory, such as extension of  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  to generic  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$ . Once this is done, the entire structure of resurgence is reestablished. All the relations obtained by resurgence survive even in the limit of convergent perturbation series. We will call it the *Cheshire Cat resurgence*, whose distinguishing features is that from time to time its body disappears, while its iconic grin remains.

For  $\zeta \notin \mathbb{N}^+$ , by using the Bender–Wu analysis, we can do left/right resummation of perturbation theory, and prove that the ambiguity in the Borel sum  $S_{\pm}E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  cancels exactly the ambiguity in the complex bion amplitude,  $[CB]_{\pm}$ . Namely, at leading order, we obtain

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[\mathcal{S}_{\pm}E^{\operatorname{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) + [\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm}(\nu, g, \zeta)\right] = 0.$$
(1.15)

For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , the perturbative expansion converges, and the complex bion amplitude becomes ambiguity free:

$$Im S_{\pm} E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = 0$$
  

$$Im [CB]_{\pm}(\nu, g, \zeta) = 0.$$
(1.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> We are thankful to Roman Sulejmanpasic for the artwork.

By using this relation, we find that the convergence of the perturbative expansion corresponds to the quantization of the hidden topological angle to  $\theta_{\text{HTA}} \in \pi(\mathbb{Z} - 0)$ . In order to extract the non-perturbative information from resurgence at  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , let us look more closely at their behaviors as a function of  $\zeta$ . For  $\zeta \to \mathbb{N}^+$ , we find that the imaginary part of the complex bion amplitude and the large-orders of the perturbation expansion behave as (for example, for ground state, setting  $\nu = 0$  in (1.12) and (1.8))

$$\operatorname{Im} E_{\pm}^{n.p.}(\nu = 0, g, \zeta) = \mp \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{g}{2A^2}\right)^{\zeta-1} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\zeta)} e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(0,\zeta) + b_1(0,\zeta) g + b_2(0,\zeta) g^2 + \cdots\right),$$
$$a_n(\nu = 0,\zeta) = -\frac{\mathcal{M}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(2A^2)^{\zeta-1}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\zeta)} \frac{(n-\zeta)!}{(S_b)^{n-\zeta+1}} \times \left(b_0(0,\zeta) + \frac{(S_b)b_1(0,\zeta)}{n-\zeta} + \frac{(S_b)^2b_2(0,\zeta)}{(n-\zeta)(n-\zeta-1)} + \cdots\right).$$
(1.17)

Despite the fact that both expressions become zero in the  $\zeta \to \mathbb{N}^+$  limit due to the overall  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\zeta)}$  factor, and the resurgent cancellation seems to disappear, the footprint of resurgence is still present in the theory. This may also be viewed as analyticity in  $\zeta$ ; if resurgent cancellation works infinitesimal away from  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , its remnant must be present even in the limit.

By employing Cheshire Cat resurgence we can justify our claim that the complex bion gives a contribution to the semiclassical analysis even when  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . This claim is the essential ingredient to solve the puzzles in QES literatures.

1.7. Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation. In this section we discuss another remarkable feature of the systems we study. Namely since in both systems we study the ambiguity of non-perturbative contribution is given by a complex saddle point—the complex bion in the cases we study—the perturbative corrections to this saddle will have a one-to-one correspondence with the corrections to the leading asymptotic growth of the perturbative expansion. Although we focus on the DSG and the TDW systems, it is worth noting that the arguments presented here are generally applicable to any system for which a complex saddle contributes to the energy shift, and for which the Dunne–Ünsal relation holds.

To show the self-resurgent properties, note that the coefficients  $b_i$  of the large order expansion (1.8) correspond to the perturbative corrections around the complex bion solution via the resurgent cancellation (1.15), i.e.

$$\operatorname{Im} E_{\pm}^{\mathrm{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = (\dots) e^{-S_b/g} \operatorname{Im}(e^{\pm i\zeta\pi}) \mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$$
(1.18)

where  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  is the perturbative expansion around the complex saddle, normalized so that  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, 0, \zeta) = 1$ . We write a formal expansion of this object as

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i(\nu, \zeta) g^i, \qquad (1.19)$$

where  $b_0 = 1$ . On the one hand the form of the large order growth (1.8) is fixed by the requirement that the ambiguity resulting from the complex bion is cancelled by

the Borel summation of the perturbation theory. On the other hand, Dunne and one of us (MÜ) showed [9] that the perturbative expansion around non-trivial saddles can be related to the perturbative expansion around the trivial vacuum in a constructive way. By writing an analogous formula for the systems we study, we are able to relate the perturbative expansion around the trivial vacuum to the expansion around *the complex saddle*. These two facts then seem to imply that the perturbative expansion around it both dictates and is dictated by (respectively) the late and early terms of the perturbation theory around the trivial vacuum. However, if this is the case it means that the early terms of the perturbative series, "echoing" on the non-perturbative "mountain", dictate late terms of *of the same series*. For this reason it is appropriate to call this phenomenon *echo-resurgence* or *self-resurgence*.

Let us see in more detail how this works. The formal power-expansion of the energy in coupling g of the energy level v is given by

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = a_0(\nu, \zeta) + a_1(\nu, \zeta)g + a_2(\nu, \zeta)g^2 + \cdots$$
 (1.20)

Now the natural generalization of the Dunne–Ünsal relation for an arbitrary complex bion is

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} \exp\left[S_b \int_0^g \frac{dg}{g^2} \left(\frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} - a_0'(\nu, \zeta) - a_1'(\nu, \zeta)g\right)\right].$$
(1.21)

Writing

$$\frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a'_n(\nu, \zeta) g^n, \qquad (1.22)$$

where the prime indicates differentiation with respect to v. We see that

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \left(1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a'_n(\nu, \zeta) g^n\right) e^{S_b \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} a'_{n+1}(\nu, \zeta) g^n}$$
(1.23)  
$$= (1 + a'_1(\nu, \zeta) g + a'_2(\nu, \zeta) g^2 + a'_3(\nu, \zeta) g^3 + \cdots)$$
$$\times \exp\left[S_b \left(a'_2(\nu, \zeta) g + \frac{a'_3(\nu, \zeta) g^2}{2} + \frac{a'_4(\nu, \zeta) g^3}{3} + \cdots\right)\right].$$
(1.24)

Equivalently, we can write  $b_i(v, \zeta)$ 's in terms of derivatives of  $a_i(v, \zeta)$ 's,

$$b_{0}(\nu,\zeta) = 1,$$
  

$$b_{1}(\nu,\zeta) = a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta) + S_{b} a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta),$$
  

$$b_{2}(\nu,\zeta) = a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta) + S_{b} a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta)a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta) + \frac{1}{2}S_{b}^{2}a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}S_{b} a'_{3}(\nu,\zeta),$$
  

$$b_{3}(\nu,\zeta) = a'_{3}(\nu,\zeta) + S_{b} \left(a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta)a_{3}(\nu,\zeta) + \frac{1}{3}a'_{4}(\nu,\zeta)\right)$$
  

$$+ \frac{1}{2}S_{b}^{2} \left(a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta)a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)^{2} + a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)a'_{3}(\nu,\zeta)\right) + \frac{1}{6}S_{b}^{3}a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)^{3}.$$
 (1.25)

By plugging in (1.8) we see that the large order corrections of the perturbative expansion are given by

$$a_{n}(\nu,\zeta) = -\frac{\mathcal{M}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\nu!} \frac{1}{(2A^{2})^{\zeta-2\nu-1}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)} \frac{(n-\zeta+2\nu)!}{(S_{b})^{n-\zeta+2\nu+1}}$$
(1.26)  
 
$$\times \left[ 1 + \frac{S_{b} (a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta) + S_{b} a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta))}{n-\zeta} + \frac{S_{b}^{2} (a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta) + S_{b} a'_{1}(\nu,\zeta)a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta) + \frac{1}{2}S_{b}^{2} a'_{2}(\nu,\zeta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}S_{b} a'_{3}(\nu,\zeta))}{(n-\zeta)(n-\zeta-1)} + \cdots \right].$$

(1.27) What we have obtain is nothing short of remarkable! Indeed the above expression relates the asymptotic coefficients of the perturbative expansion  $a_n$ , with  $n \gg 1$ , to the derivatives  $\partial_{\nu}a_n(\nu, \zeta) = a'_n(\nu, \zeta)$  with  $n = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$  For this reason, we say that if the Dunne–Ünsal relation holds for a system in which complex saddles contribute, the perturbative series of the energy is *self-resurgent*.

We take an opportunity now to comment on the possible interpretation of this selfresurgence formula as being related to Dingle's self-resurgence formula (see M.V. Berry [57]) which is a general property of resurgent functions which are themselves functions of resurgent functions. Namely, it is likely<sup>10</sup> that the self-resurgent properties of the systems we study imply that the energy is not simply a resurgent function of two independent arguments v and g, but that they are related in some way. Indeed in [9], the energy is written as E(v(g), g), where part of the dependence on g is placed into a functional dependence on v. On the other hand, here we obtained the self-resurgent formula by the utilization of the Dunne–Ünsal relation, a formula which is only known for systems who's WKB Riemann sheet is topologically a torus [23]. If by virtue of [57] the selfresurgent property is a general property of eigenvalue problems, this may give insight into what the generalization of the Dunne–Ünsal relation for higher genus WKB Reimann surfaces is.

#### 2. Resolving Puzzle 1: The Double Sine-Gordon system

In this section, we provide the resolution of the **Puzzle 1** that is described in Sect. 1.5. A subset of the lowest energy eigenstates of the Double Sine-Gordon (DSG) are exactly solvable, and the corresponding energy eigenvalues are known to be algebraic in coupling constant g. On the other hand, according to the textbook semi-classical analysis, the system posses real instantons, what we call real bions (because these are really correlated two-instanton events with a characteristic size parametrically larger than an instanton.) They should introduce non-algebraic  $e^{-S_b/g}$  contributions to the energy eigenvalues. The presence of complex bions, in addition to the real bions, lies in the heart of the solution to the apparent discrepancy. The complex bion contribution cancels precisely the one coming from real bions. The concrete relation of this QM system with quantum field theory is described in Sect. 4.

Here we consider the DSG system and analyze it in detail. The Hamiltonian is

$$H = -\frac{g}{2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{2g}\Big(W'(x)^2 - \zeta g W''(x)\Big), \qquad (2.1)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> TS would like to thank M.V. Berry for drawing our attention to this possibility.



**Fig. 2.** An illustration of the exactly solvable states. The blue-shaded rectangles represent bands by changing the  $\theta$  (i.e. Bloch) angle, whose width is non-perturbative and not exactly solvable for any  $\zeta$ . However, it is possible to solve either for the energy of the top or of the bottom of the band when  $\zeta$  is an odd or an even integer respectively. Note that  $\zeta = 1$  case is a supersymmetric limit, and the bottom of the band corresponds to the supersymmetric ground state given by  $\psi_0 = e^{-W(x)} = e^{\frac{\omega}{g} \cos(x\sqrt{g})}$  (color figure online)

$$W(x) = -\omega \cos x,$$
  

$$V(x) = \frac{\omega^2}{2g} \sin^2 x - \zeta \frac{\omega}{2} \cos x,$$
(2.2)

where  $\omega$  is the curvature at x = 0 to leading order in the expansion parameter g and  $\zeta$  is an a priori free parameter. The Schrödinger equation reads

$$-g\frac{\psi''(x)}{2} + V(x)\psi(x) = E\psi(x).$$
(2.3)

Since the potential is periodic, the wave-function can have Bloch periodicity  $\psi(x+2\pi) = \psi(x)e^{i\theta}$ . By changing the  $\theta$ -angle we can scan the band of the potential. Below, we examine this class of potentials by using the methods outlined in the Introduction for the general values of  $\zeta$ .

First, recall that for the  $\zeta = 1$  case the above system reduces to the well known case of supersymmetric quantum mechanics, with the ground state energy  $E_0 = 0$  and the ground state wave-function

$$\psi_0 = e^{-W(x)/g} = e^{\frac{\omega}{g}\cos(x\sqrt{g})}.$$
(2.4)

This solution determines the bottom of the lowest-lying band, or the ground state at  $\theta = 0$ . What is much less appreciated is that for any  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , it is always possible to find either the bottom or the top of the first  $\zeta$  bands (see Fig. 2) analytically. The method which allows one to determine these edges of the band goes under the name of *Quasi-Exact Solvability* (QES). We discuss this next.

2.1. Quasi-exact solvability for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . The definition of the QES is that a finite part of the spectrum is algebraically exactly solvable (see [63] for a recent review of QES). Let us denote by  $\mathcal{H}_0$  the finite-dimensional subspace spanned by those eigenstates, which are algebraically solved if a certain boundary condition is imposed.

The method of QES relies on rewriting the eigenvalue problem by a suitably chosen Ansatz of the wave-function

$$\psi(x) = u(x)e^{-W(x)/g}.$$
(2.5)

The Schrödinger equation for  $\psi$  then turns into the eigenvalue equation for u(x), of the form

$$\widehat{h}u = Eu, \tag{2.6}$$

where  $\hat{h}$  is a second order differential operator given by

$$\widehat{h} = \omega \left[ -\frac{g}{2\omega} \frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \sin x \frac{d}{dx} - \frac{\zeta - 1}{2} \cos x \right].$$
(2.7)

Note that we can set  $\omega = 1$ . To reinstate it in the result we simply need to replace the coupling  $g \to g/\omega$  and the energy  $E \to \omega E$ .

In order to turn the Hamiltonian operator into a matrix eigenvalue equation in the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0$ , it is useful to introduce differential operators which form a representation of SU(2) algebra,

$$J_{+} = e^{-ix} \left( j - i \frac{d}{dx} \right), \quad J_{-} = e^{ix} \left( j + i \frac{d}{dx} \right), \quad J_{3} = i \frac{d}{dx}, \tag{2.8}$$

with a Casimir  $(J_+J_- + J_-J_+)/2 + J_3^2 = j(j+1)$ . The eigenfunctions of  $J_3$  are  $u_m = Ne^{-imx}$ , with m = -j, -j+1, ..., j and they form a multiplet in the 2j+1 dimensional representation of SU(2).  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is the span of  $u_m$ , and exact solutions will be decomposable within this subspace.

The Hamiltonian  $\hat{h}$  given in (2.7) can be expressed in terms of generators (2.8)

$$\widehat{h} = \frac{g}{2}J_3^2 - \frac{1}{2}(J_+ + J_-) = -\frac{g}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \sin x \frac{d}{dx} - j\cos x, \qquad (2.9)$$

provided we identify  $j = \frac{\zeta - 1}{2}$ . For  $J_{\pm}$ ,  $J_3$  to be generators of the SU(2) algebra, j must be either a non-negative integer or a non-negative half-integer, we see that  $\zeta$  must be a positive integer.

Now note that there exists an abstract scalar product invariant under the action of the SU(2) group in question<sup>11</sup> and under which the states  $u_m$  are orthogonal, i.e.  $(u_m, u_s) = \delta_{ms}$  (see [69]). To determine the norm of  $u_m$  we note that the action of  $J_{\pm}$  is given by

$$J_{\pm}u_m = \sqrt{(j \mp m)(j \pm m + 1)}u_{m\pm 1}.$$
 (2.10)

Choosing  $u_{-j} \equiv e^{ijx}$ ,  $(u_{-j}, u_{-j}) \equiv 1$  by definition, we can construct all  $u_m$  by a successive action of  $J_+$ . This gives

$$u_m = \sqrt{\frac{(2j)!}{(j-m)!(j+m)!}} e^{-imx}, \quad m = -j, -j+1, \dots, j.$$
(2.11)

$$(u, v) = (Uu, Uv) = (u, v) + t^{a}(iJ^{a}u, v) + t^{a}(u, iJ^{a}v) + o((t^{a})^{2}) \Rightarrow (J^{a}u, v) = (u, J^{a}v)$$

where wrote  $U = e^{i J^a t^a}$ , where  $J^a$  are generators of SU(2), and  $t^a$  are parameters of the transformation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Note that  $J_{\pm}$  are not Hermitian conjugates of each other under the naive  $L^2$  norm. We can, instead, introduce the invariant norm under the SU(2) group, so that it automatically makes the generators  $J_a$  invariant as it must follow that

This fact naturally splits the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  into a subspace invariant under the  $\hat{h}$  and the rest. Note that this SU(2) group is not a symmetry of the underlying theory, i.e. Hamiltonian is *not* invariant under the action of this SU(2). This is clear from the form of the operator  $\hat{h}$ , given by (2.9), which is clearly not SU(2) invariant. Rather the space spanned by  $u_m$  is invariant under the action of  $\hat{h}$ , which allows for an algebraic solution of one part of the spectrum. Indeed in this subspace the operator  $\hat{h}$  attains a (tridiagonal) matrix form

$$\hat{h}_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g(-j)^{2} & -\sqrt{2j} & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ -\sqrt{2j} & g(-j+1)^{2} & -\sqrt{2(2j-1)} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & -\sqrt{2(2j-1)} & g(-j+2)^{2} & \ddots \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \vdots & gm^{2} & -\sqrt{(j-m)(j+m+1)} \\ & & -\sqrt{(j-m)(j+m+1)} & g(m+1)^{2} \\ & & & \ddots \\ & & & g(j-1)^{2} & -\sqrt{2j} \\ & & & & g^{2} & -\sqrt{2j} & gj^{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.12)

where the subscript on  $\hat{h}$  implies the restriction of the total Hilbert space to the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0$  invariant under the action of the SU(2) group generated by  $J_3$ ,  $J_{\pm}$ . As we will only be concerned by this subspace, we will drop the subscript 0 in what follows.

2.1.1. Exact solutions for  $\zeta = 1, 2, 3$ , and 4. Let us explicitly consider  $\mathcal{H}_0$  and  $\hat{h}$  for the cases  $\zeta = 1, 2, 3, 4$ .

 $\zeta = 1$  (Supersymmetric) case: One exactly solvable state. This is the supersymmetric case, and it evidently requires j = 0, so that the only solvable state is u(x) = const. This is precisely the supersymmetric ground state. The Hamiltonian action on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is

$$\widehat{h} = 0, \tag{2.13}$$

with eigenvalues and eigenfunctions

$$E_0 = 0, \quad \psi_0 = e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x}.$$
 (2.14)

Notice that the wave-function is periodic, so it corresponds to the Bloch angle  $\theta = 0$ .

 $\zeta = 2$  case: Two exactly solvable states. In this case j = 1/2 and we have the Hamiltonian acting on  $\mathcal{H}_0$ 

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{g}{8} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{g}{8} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.15)

with eigenvalues and eigenfunctions

$$E_0 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{g}{8}; \quad \psi_0 = \cos(\frac{x}{2}) \ e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x},$$
  

$$E_1 = +\frac{1}{2} + \frac{g}{8}; \quad \psi_1 = \sin(\frac{x}{2}) \ e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x}.$$
(2.16)

Notice that these wave-functions obey anti-periodic boundary condition, so that the Bloch angle is given by  $\theta = \pi$ .

 $\zeta = 3$  case: Three exactly solvable states. If  $\zeta = 3$  then j = 1. The Hamiltonian is:

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{g}{2} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0\\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{g}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.17)

with eigenvalues and eigenfunctions

$$E_{0} = \frac{1}{4} \left( g - \sqrt{g^{2} + 16} \right); \qquad \psi_{0} = \left( 2 \cos x + \frac{g + \sqrt{g^{2} + 16}}{2} \right) e^{\frac{1}{g} \cos x},$$

$$E_{1} = \frac{g}{2}; \qquad \qquad \psi_{1} = \left( \sin x \right) e^{\frac{1}{g} \cos x},$$

$$E_{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left( g + \sqrt{g^{2} + 16} \right); \qquad \psi_{2} = \left( 2 \cos x + \frac{g - \sqrt{g^{2} + 16}}{2} \right) e^{\frac{1}{g} \cos x}. \quad (2.18)$$

Just like in the case when  $\zeta = 1$ , the all the wave-functions we found are periodic, therefore the Bloch angle is  $\theta = 0$  again.

 $\zeta = 4$  case: Four exactly solvable states. If  $\zeta = 4$  then j = 3/2. The Hamiltonian is:

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{9g}{8} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & 0 & 0\\ -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{g}{8} & -1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 & \frac{g}{8} & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{9g}{8} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.19)

with eigenvalues and eigenfunctions

$$E_{0} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{5}{8}g - \frac{\sqrt{4 + 2g + g^{2}}}{2}; \quad \psi_{0} = \left(\cos(\frac{3x}{2}) + \frac{\sqrt{g^{2} + 2g + 4} + g + 1}{\sqrt{3}}\cos(\frac{x}{2})\right) e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x},$$

$$E_{1} = +\frac{1}{2} + \frac{5}{8}g - \frac{\sqrt{4 - 2g + g^{2}}}{2}; \quad \psi_{1} = \left(\sin(\frac{3x}{2}) + \frac{\sqrt{g^{2} - 2g + 4} + g - 1}{\sqrt{3}}\sin(\frac{x}{2})\right) e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x},$$

$$E_{2} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{5}{8}g + \frac{\sqrt{4 - 2g + g^{2}}}{2}; \quad \psi_{2} = \left(\cos(\frac{3x}{2}) + \frac{-\sqrt{g^{2} + 2g + 4} + g + 1}{\sqrt{3}}\cos(\frac{x}{2})\right) e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x},$$

$$E_{3} = +\frac{1}{2} + \frac{5}{8}g + \frac{\sqrt{4 - 2g + g^{2}}}{2}; \quad \psi_{3} = \left(\sin(\frac{3x}{2}) + \frac{-\sqrt{g^{2} - 2g + 4} + g - 1}{\sqrt{3}}\sin(\frac{x}{2})\right) e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x}.$$

$$(2.20)$$

As in the case of  $\zeta = 2$ , wave-functions obey the anti-periodic boundary condition.

2.1.2. General  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  case and Ince-polynomials. For general  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  theory, the first  $\zeta$  level are algebraically solvable, corresponding to  $j = \frac{\zeta - 1}{2}$  representation of SU(2). The  $2j + 1 = \zeta$  solutions are of the form

$$\psi_i(x) = P_i^{(\zeta-1)}(\cos(x/2), \sin(x/2))e^{\frac{1}{g}\cos x}, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, \zeta - 1$$
(2.21)

where  $P_i^{(\zeta-1)}(\cos(x/2), \sin(x/2))$  is an  $(\zeta - 1)^{\text{th}}$  order polynomial with trigonometric arguments,  $\cos(x/2)$  and  $\sin(x/2)$ . These are called *Ince-polynomials* (see, e.g., Sec. 28.31 of Ref. [70]). The wave-functions for the exactly soluble subset obey the boundary conditions:

$$\psi_i(x+2\pi) = (-1)^{\zeta-1} \,\psi_i(x) \tag{2.22}$$

- $\zeta$ -odd: In this case, the exactly solvable subset obey periodic boundary conditions (2.22). See Fig. 2. This corresponds to the topological  $\theta$ -angle zero,  $\theta = 0$ . Note that for the  $\nu = 0$  band, this corresponds to the bottom of the band, while top of the band corresponds to  $\theta = \pi$ . The bottom of the  $\nu = 1$  band also corresponds to  $\theta = \pi$  and is again not algebraically solvable, but the top of the  $\nu = 1$  band correspond to  $\theta = 0$  and is algebraically solvable. This pattern continues for all odd- $\zeta$  values.
- $\zeta$ -even: In this case, the exactly solvable subset obey anti-periodic boundary conditions (2.22). See Fig. 2. This corresponds to setting topological theta angle to  $\theta = \pi$ . Note that for the  $\nu = 0$  band, this corresponds to the top of the band. Note that the bottom of the  $\nu = 1$  band also corresponds to  $\theta = \pi$  and it is also algebraically solvable. The rest of neither bands is exactly solvable. This pattern continues for all even- $\zeta$  values.

2.2. Complex saddles and the role of the hidden topological angle. There is a longstanding puzzle in the literature of the QES systems. Because of its algebraic nature, the exact solutions in QES systems have no non-perturbative contributions of the form  $e^{-S_b/g}$ . On the other hand, there is a real non-perturbative saddle in the DSG system, which we refer to as the real bion  $[\mathcal{RB}]$  [15]. This real saddle interpolates from x = 0 to  $x = 2\pi$ , which may be interpreted as the exact version of instanton-instanton  $[\mathcal{II}]$  correlated event. There is no reason why this object would not contribute to the semiclassical analysis. Indeed such paths must be present, as only they couple to the Bloch  $\theta$  angle. If such paths did not contribute, the Bloch bands would not exists. Why does this contribution disappear in the exact energy expression? To our best knowledge, the resolution of this puzzle is not known in the QES literature.

The explanation of the above mentioned puzzle is very similar to that of the instanton– anti-instanton contributions in a supersymmetric theory [15]. In other words, for the case of  $\zeta = 1$  supersymmetric theory, the vacuum energy is zero to all orders in the perturbation theory. Contributions of the real bion renders the ground-state energy negative at  $\theta = 0$ , which clashes with the supersymmetry algebra. In [15], a complex multivalued saddle is found and called the complex bion, whose contribution to vacuum energy is positive,  $\Delta E^{cb} \sim -e^{\pm i\pi} e^{-S_b/g}$ , and it cancels the real-bion contribution  $\Delta E^{rb} \sim -e^{-S_b/g}$ exactly. This is the first hint for building up Picard–Lefschetz theory for path integrals,<sup>12</sup> because it demonstrates that the complex saddles of this type must be included in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As Picard–Lefschetz theory of path integrals is not a complete theory, we should clarify what we mean by this. By Picard–Lefschetz theory we mean a meaningful and systematic expansion of the observables which have a path-integral representation into contributions coming from various saddles of the action. Note that we

semiclassical expansion. In the  $\zeta$ -deformed theories, we find a similar exact cancellation mechanisms for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ .

•  $\zeta$ -odd: As asserted above, the lowest  $\zeta$  states are exactly solvable at  $\theta = 0$ , and thus there must exist an exact cancellation between real and complex bion saddles. Indeed, we find

$$E^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = 2[\mathcal{R}B] + 2[\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm}$$
  
=  $2\left(-(-1)^{\nu} - e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta-\nu)}\right)_{\zeta=1,3,\dots} e^{-S_b/g} \cdots$   
=  $2(-1)^{\nu+1}(1 + e^{i\pi\zeta})_{\zeta=1,3,\dots} e^{-S_b/g} = 0$  (2.23)

For level  $\nu = 0, 2, ..., \zeta - 2$ , the real bion reduces the energy, while the complex bion increases it and the two cancel exactly. For level  $\nu = 1, 3, ..., \zeta - 1$ , the real bion increases the energy, while the complex bion reduces it and the two cancel exactly. The cancellation between the two is a consequence of the destructive interference induced by *hidden topological angle*  $\theta_{\text{HTA}} = \zeta \pi$  associated with the complex bion.

•  $\zeta$ -even: In this case, the lowest  $\zeta$  states are exactly solvable at  $\theta = \pi$ , so we must consider the effect of the topological  $\theta$  angle for the QES. Since the real and complex bions have the winding numbers 1 and 0, respectively, we find that

$$[\mathcal{R}B](\theta) = [\mathcal{R}B]e^{i\theta}, \quad [\mathcal{C}B](\theta) = [\mathcal{C}B]. \tag{2.24}$$

As a result of this, the contribution of real and complex bion to the energy level  $\nu$  for the case of even  $\zeta$  takes the form

$$E^{n.p.}(\nu, g, \zeta) = ([\mathcal{R}B] + c.c.) + 2[\mathcal{C}B]$$
  
=  $2\left(-(-1)^{\nu}\cos\theta|_{\theta=\pi} - e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta-\nu)}\right)_{\zeta=2,4,...} e^{-S_b/g} \cdots$   
=  $2(-1)^{\nu+1}(\cos\theta|_{\theta=\pi} + e^{i\pi\zeta})_{\zeta=2,4,...} e^{-S_b/g} \cdots = 0.$  (2.25)

For level  $v = 0, 2, ..., \zeta - 1$ , the real bion increases the energy, while the complex bion reduces it and the two cancel exactly. For level  $v = 1, 3, ..., \zeta - 2$ , the real bion reduces the energy, while the complex bion increases it and the two cancel exactly. The cancellation between the two is a consequence of the destructive interference induced also by *ordinary topological angle*  $\theta$  associated with the real bion.

We find the mechanism described in (2.23) and (2.25) nothing short of remarkable. It is due to this exact non-perturbative cancellation mechanisms induced by the interplay of the hidden topological angle with the ordinary topological angle is necessary for the exact algebraic solvability of the states in  $\mathcal{H}_0$  in these QES-systems.

So far, we have shown that a consistent semiclassical picture is given for QES if we take into account the effect of complex bions. Remainder of Sect. 2 is dedicated to the analytic properties off the integer values of  $\zeta$ . As we shall see, such theories hold much more information about QES systems then would naively be thought.

Footnote 12 continued

do not a priori refer to the nature, structure and construction of Lefshetz thimbles. More concretely, we do not claim that the dual of the Lefschetz thimble associated with the complex bion has nonzero intersection number with the original integration cycle. Our intention is to build this theory for path integrals, and in this work, by using Bender–Wu analysis, resurgence, QES, supersymmetry and complexified path integral, we take mileage in this direction, and provide an almost complete picture for the systems we study.

2.3. The general  $\zeta$ -deformed theory. In this and the next sections, we shall show that the complex bion must be taken into account for the semiclassical and resurgent analysis to make sense. For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  the perturbation series has a finite convergence radius, and there seems to be no room for resurgence to play into the game. In order to understand what is happening better, we are going to compute the perturbation series of the DSG system for a generic  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$  and establish the intricate relation of the perturbative sector and the complex bion. By using the continuity in the limit  $\zeta \rightarrow 1, 2, 3, \ldots$ , we argue that the complex bion still describes a nonperturbative contribution in the semiclassical analysis without the factorial growth of the perturbation series; we name it a Cheshire Cat effect.

To compute the perturbation series, we apply the Bender–Wu method [58–60]. The Bender–Wu method is an algorithm to compute the high order correction for an arbitrary energy level in perturbation theory. The main idea of this algorithm is to construct the recursive relation for the perturbative coefficients of the eigen-energy E and eigenfunction  $\psi$ .

We demonstrate two remarkable aspect of the perturbation theory.

- For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , the perturbation theory of the DSG system for  $\nu = 0, 1, \dots, \zeta 1$  is convergent and exact. For higher energy levels, the perturbation theory yields an asymptotic expansion.
- For generic  $\zeta$ , the perturbation theory is always asymptotic.

2.3.1. Exactly solvablity from perturbation theory for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . For  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , Bender–Wu equation gives a convergent results for the energy levels  $\nu = 0, 1, 2, ..., \zeta - 1$ , and it gives divergent asymptotic series for level number  $\nu \ge \zeta$ . See for example Table 1a–c.

For  $\zeta = 1$ , the system is supersymmetric. Indeed, the ground state ( $\nu = 0$ ) energy is zero to all orders in perturbation theory. For the wave-function, perturbation theory does not yield zero, but a convergent and exact result for level number  $\nu = 0$ . For higher states  $\nu = 1, 2, ...$  in the supersymmetric theory, perturbation theory is asymptotic.

As an example of a convergent (and non-truncating) perturbation theory, see Table 1c, let us show the series for the ground state energy of the  $\zeta = 3$  system.

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu = 0, g, \zeta) = -1 + \frac{g}{4} - \frac{g^2}{32} + \frac{g^4}{2048} - \frac{g^6}{65536} + \frac{5g^8}{8388608} - \frac{7g^{10}}{268435456} + \dots,$$
(2.26)

which is exactly the expansion of  $E_0$  in (2.18).

*2.3.2. Asymptotic corrections from the Bender–Wu analysis.* Studying the Bender–Wu recursion relation, one can find the large-order behavior of perturbation theory.

$$a_{n}(\nu,\zeta) \approx -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\nu!} \frac{1}{8^{\zeta-2\nu-1}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)} \frac{(n-\zeta+2\nu)!}{(S_{b})^{n-\zeta+2\nu+1}} \\ \times \left(1 + \frac{S_{b} b_{1}(\nu,\zeta)}{n-\zeta+2\nu} + \frac{S_{b}^{2} b_{2}(\nu,\zeta)}{(n-\zeta+2\nu)(n-\zeta+2\nu-1)} + \dots + \frac{S_{b}^{K} b_{K}(\nu,\zeta)}{(n-\zeta+2\nu)(n-\zeta+2\nu-1)\cdots(n-\zeta+2\nu-K)}\right), \quad (2.27)$$

where we set  $b_0 = 1$  and terminated the 1/n correction to some finite order K. This can be done for any state, but here we report for state v = 0 and v = 1. We can then use the

BenderWu package [58] to compute the coefficients  $a_n(v, \zeta)$  to some high order n = N, retaining the analytic dependence on  $\zeta$ . Explicit values of n = N - K, N - K + 1, ..., Ncan then be plugged into the above approximate equation, giving K equations with Kunknowns  $b_1(v, \zeta), b_2(v, \zeta), ..., b_K(v, \zeta)$ . Taking K = 10, and expanding in a series in  $\zeta$  for v = 0 we get the following numerical values

$$b_{1}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -0.6249999999802 + 0.624999999937376\zeta - 0.12499999999149091\zeta^{2} + o(\zeta^{3}10^{-11}),$$

$$b_{2}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -0.10156250436 + 0.015625013847\zeta + 0.117187481117609\zeta^{2} - 0.0624999852717885\zeta^{3} + 0.00781249267805392\zeta^{4} + o(\zeta^{5}10^{-9}),$$

$$b_{3}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -0.116211 + 0.124022\zeta - 0.00325335\zeta^{2} - 0.016603\zeta^{3} - 0.003254481026038194\zeta^{4} + 0.002929444295569087\zeta^{5} - 0.0003254657952886725\zeta^{6} + o(\zeta^{7}10^{-9}),$$
(2.28)

We repeat the same for v = 1 and obtain

$$b_{1}(\nu = 1, \zeta) = -2.6249999967918 + 1.374999993327027\zeta - 0.1249999939430032\zeta^{2} + o(\zeta^{3}10^{-9}), b_{2}(\nu = 1, \zeta) = 1.24218678107 - 1.953123499260\zeta + 0.929686131557870\zeta^{2} + 0.1562492802762927\zeta^{3} + 0.00781225722624248\zeta^{4} + o(\zeta^{5}10^{-8}), b_{3}(\nu = 1, \zeta) = -0.471608 + 0.473483\zeta - 0.444525\zeta^{2} + 0.278248\zeta^{3} - 0.0774493776897379\zeta^{4} + 0.00878340297785316\zeta^{5} - 0.0003246026044364228\zeta^{6} + o(\zeta^{7}10^{-7}). (2.29)$$

The fact that the perturbative coefficients follow the factorial growth given by (1.8) suggests that the complex bion must contribute in the semiclassical analysis. By using the continuity in  $\zeta$ , complex bion gives the contribution also for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ , which solves the puzzle in QES literature as we discussed in Sect. 2.2. Furthermore, our detailed computation on  $b_i(\nu, \zeta)$  gives the conjecture about the perturbative fluctuations around the complex bion contribution.

2.4. Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation. By using Bender–Wu recursion relations, we can derive a perturbative expansion for the energy eigenvalues  $E^{\text{pert.}}(v, g, \zeta)$  as a function of coupling g, level number v, and parameter  $\zeta$ . For example, up to fourth order in g, we obtain an expression

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = a_0(\nu, \zeta) + a_1(\nu, \zeta) g + a_2(\nu, \zeta) g^2 + a_3(\nu, \zeta) g^3 + a_4(\nu, \zeta) g^4 + \mathcal{O}(g^5)$$
(2.30)

where

$$a_0(v,\zeta) = v + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\zeta}{2},$$

$$a_{1}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{8} \left( 2\zeta\nu + \zeta - 2\nu^{2} - 2\nu - 1 \right)$$

$$a_{2}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{64} \left( \zeta^{2}(-(2\nu+1)) + \zeta \left( 6\nu^{2} + 6\nu + 3 \right) - 2 \left( 2\nu^{3} + 3\nu^{2} + 3\nu + 1 \right) \right),$$

$$a_{3}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{256} \left( \zeta^{3}(2\nu+1) - 6\zeta^{2} \left( 2\nu^{2} + 2\nu + 1 \right) + \zeta \left( 20\nu^{3} + 30\nu^{2} + 32\nu + 11 \right) - 2 \left( 5\nu^{4} + 10\nu^{3} + 16\nu^{2} + 11\nu + 3 \right) \right),$$

$$a_{4}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{4096} \left( -5\zeta^{4}(2\nu+1) + 48\zeta^{3} \left( 2\nu^{2} + 2\nu + 1 \right) - 2\zeta^{2} \left( 142\nu^{3} + 213\nu^{2} + 233\nu + 81 \right) + 15\zeta \left( 22\nu^{4} + 44\nu^{3} + 74\nu^{2} + 52\nu + 15 \right) - 2 \left( 66\nu^{5} + 165\nu^{4} + 370\nu^{3} + 390\nu^{2} + 225\nu + 53 \right).$$

$$(2.31)$$

As stated earlier, the traditional resurgence connects large-order growth around the perturbative vacuum of perturbation theory to early terms around the instanton–antiinstanton saddle. However, a new type of resurgence, which follows from exact quantization condition implemented via uniform WKB approach, offers a constructive version of resurgence [9]. It is an early term–early term relation. The knowledge of perturbative expansion around the perturbative saddle at order  $g^n$  as a function of energy levels is sufficient to deduce the fluctuations around the leading non-perturbative saddle at order  $g^{n-1}$ . The non-perturbative contribution to the energy for level v is

$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = [\mathcal{R}B] + [\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm}$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{2}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{8}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \Gamma(\zeta - \nu)((-1)^{\nu} + e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta - \nu)}) e^{-S_b/g} \mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$   
(2.32)

where  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(v, g, \zeta)$  is the fluctuation operator around the real and complex saddle. We remind the reader that, according to the result of [9,10] (see also [71]) in the case of  $\zeta = 0$ , the fluctuations around an instanton-saddle are completely determined from the perturbative expansions around the trivial saddle. Inspired by this, we give a conjectured form of the relation between  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(v, g, \zeta)$  of complex bion and the trivial perturbation theory  $E^{\text{pert.}}(v, g, \zeta)$ 

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} \exp\left[S_b \int_0^g \frac{dg}{g^2} \left(\frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} - 1 + \frac{2g(\nu + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\zeta}{2})}{S_b}\right)\right]. \quad (2.33)$$

How can we check this formula? One way is to show consistency with the exact quantization condition, similar in spirit to the Zinn-Justin and Jentshura [65, 72, 73]. We defer the discussion of exact quantization condition for  $\zeta$ -deformed theories elsewhere. Instead, from above expression we can identify the  $\zeta$ -polynomials  $b_i(\nu, \zeta)$  by noting that

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta)g + b_2(\nu, \zeta)g^2 + \cdots, \qquad (2.34)$$

so that

 $b_0(\nu,\zeta)=1,$ 

$$b_{1}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{8} \Big( -\zeta^{2} + \zeta(6\nu + 5) - 2\nu(3\nu + 5) - 5 \Big),$$
  

$$b_{2}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{128} \Big( \zeta^{4} - 4\zeta^{3}(3\nu + 2) + \zeta^{2} \Big( 48\nu^{2} + 56\nu + 15 \Big) - 2\zeta \Big( 36\nu^{3} + 60\nu^{2} + 30\nu - 1 \Big) + 36\nu^{4} + 80\nu^{3} + 60\nu^{2} - 4\nu - 13 \Big),$$
  

$$b_{3}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{3072} \Big( -\zeta^{6} + 9\zeta^{5}(2\nu + 1) - 2\zeta^{4} \Big( 63\nu^{2} + 51\nu + 5 \Big) + \zeta^{3} \Big( 432\nu^{3} + 432\nu^{2} + 42\nu - 51 \Big) - 2\zeta^{2} \Big( 378\nu^{4} + 444\nu^{3} + 21\nu^{2} - 165\nu + 5 \Big) + 3\zeta \Big( 216\nu^{5} + 300\nu^{4} - 228\nu^{2} + 70\nu + 127 \Big) - 3 \Big( 72\nu^{6} + 120\nu^{5} - 152\nu^{3} + 70\nu^{2} + 254\nu + 119 \Big) \Big).$$
  
(2.35)

Setting  $\nu = 0$  and 1, we can compare them with an estimate to these polynomials in (2.28) and (2.29), respectively. Indeed the reader is welcome to check that the coefficients of (2.28) and (2.29) differ from the ones above by no more than 0.06%. This consistency again strengthens the evidence that the complex bion gives a physical contribution for the DSG system in the semiclassical analysis and justifies the Cheshire Cat resurgence. For the ground state, set level number  $\nu = 0$  we obtain

i.

ī

$$\begin{split} b_{0}(\nu = 0, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= 1, \\ b_{1}(\nu = 0, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{8} \Big( -5 + 5\zeta - \zeta^{2} \Big), \\ b_{2}(\nu = 0, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{128} \Big( -13 + 2\zeta + 15\zeta^{2} - 8\zeta^{3} + \zeta^{4} \Big), \\ b_{3}(\nu = 0, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{3072} \Big( -\zeta^{6} + 9\zeta^{5} - 10\zeta^{4} - 51\zeta^{3} - 10\zeta^{2} + 381\zeta - 357 \Big), \end{split}$$

$$(2.36)$$

where we have explicitly indicated that the result was obtained from the Dunne–Ünsal relation (2.33). This confirms, at least to the precision indicated above, that the formula (2.33) holds.

Let us do the same with  $\nu = 1$ . From the Dunne–Ünsal relation we have

$$\begin{aligned} b_{0}(\nu = 1, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= 1, \\ b_{1}(\nu = 1, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{8} \left( -\zeta^{2} + 11\zeta - 21 \right), \\ b_{2}(\nu = 1, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{128} \left( \zeta^{4} - 20\zeta^{3} + 119\zeta^{2} - 250\zeta + 159 \right), \\ b_{3}(\nu = 1, \zeta) \Big|_{D\ddot{U}} &= \frac{1}{3072} \left( -\zeta^{6} + 27\zeta^{5} - 238\zeta^{4} + 855\zeta^{3} - 1366\zeta^{2} + 1455\zeta - 1449 \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.37)$$

Comparing with (2.29) we find that the coefficients agree with the above formula to the precision of no worse than 0.3% (most coefficients are below 0.06%).

#### 3. Resolving Puzzle 2: Tilted Double-Well

In this section, we present the resolution of **Puzzle 2** of Sect. 1.5. The Tilted Double-Well (TDW) is not a QES system, but the perturbation series converges both for the wave function and energy eigenvalue. The wave function obtained in this manner is non-normalizable, and therefore, it cannot be a non-perturbative solution. This is again in contrast with the existing textbook semi-classical approach since the TDW potential does not possess real non-perturbative saddles. In the case of TDW, the complex bions come to rescue too and explain why all orders perturbative solution is not exact.

Let us repeat our analysis for the  $\zeta$ -deformation of the double-well system to get more insight on the connection of the perturbation theory and complex saddles. The Hamiltonian takes the same form (1.5), where the auxiliary potential (or super-potential for  $\zeta = 1$ ) is given by

$$W(x) = \frac{x^3}{3} - \frac{\omega^2 x}{4},$$
(3.1)

where  $\omega$  is the natural frequency of the system. For simplicity, in the remainder of this section we set  $\omega = 1$ . We can always reinstate it by the following replacement  $x \to \omega x$ ,  $g \to g/\omega^3$  and the energy eigenvalues  $E \to \omega E$ .

Further, the system also has a convergent perturbation series in powers of g for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$ . Moreover, the series sums to a finite, but incorrect (or rather incomplete) result. We will derive this result analytically using techniques of QES. For generic  $\zeta$ , perturbation theory is asymptotic.

Note that Sect. 3.1 should be considered as a review material as it is already discussed in literature in great depth [74,75]. Here, we briefly discuss it for completeness. The relation of the fluctuations around the complex bion and perturbation theory around the trivial saddle (the Dunne–Ünsal relation) and the self-resurgence properties of the perturbation theory are new.

*3.1. Pseudo-QES.* We will now apply QES techniques to "solve" the TDW problem. We emphasize again, that this *not* a genuine solution to the full non-perturbative problem. It provides the all-order perturbative solution correctly but lacks some non-perturbative contributions.

We start, as usual, with an Ansatz

$$\psi(x) = u(x)e^{W(x)/g},$$
(3.2)

motivated by the supersymmetric case  $\zeta = 1$ . This is a non-normalizable solution to Schrödinger equation, hence not a state in the Hilbert space. The equation for u(x) is given by

$$-\frac{g}{2}u''(x) - u'(x)W'(x) + \frac{1}{2}(\zeta - 1)u(x)W''(x) = Eu(x).$$
(3.3)

Plugging in  $W'(x) = x^2 - 1/4$ , we obtain the equation

$$-\frac{1}{2}g u''(x) + \left(\frac{1}{4} - x^2\right)u'(x) + x(\zeta - 1)u(x) = Eu(x).$$
(3.4)

Hence we define the reduced hamiltonian

$$\widehat{h} = -\frac{g}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \left(\frac{1}{4} - x^2\right)\frac{d}{dx} + x(\zeta - 1).$$
(3.5)

The objective now is to find eigenvalues E of this differential operator.

Now, observe that the operators

$$J_{+} = 2jx - x^{2}\frac{d}{dx}, \quad J_{-} = \frac{d}{dx}, \quad J_{3} = x\frac{d}{dx} - j.$$
 (3.6)

obey the SU(2) algebra, which for  $2j \in \mathbb{N}^0$  leaves invariant the vector space  $\mathcal{H}_0$  spanned by the polynomials  $u_m = N_m x^{j+m}$  for m = -j, -j + 1, ..., j. Further, it takes little to check that  $\hat{h}$  can be written as

$$\widehat{h} = -\frac{g}{2}J_{-}^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{2}J_{-} + J_{+}\right) + (\zeta - 1 - 2j)x.$$
(3.7)

Since  $2j \in \mathbb{N}^0$ , then choosing  $\zeta = 2j + 1$  allows us to eliminate the last term above, and write  $h_T$  entirely in terms of operators  $J_{\pm}$ ,  $J_3$ . The  $\hat{h}$  operator acting on the SU(2) invariant subspace spanned by polynomials  $u_m$  is therefore given by

$$\widehat{h} = -\frac{g}{2}J_{-}^{2} + (J_{-}/4 + J_{+}), \quad 2j = \zeta - 1.$$
(3.8)

Let us now solve several specific cases.

3.1.1.  $\zeta = 1, 2, 3, 4$  perturbatively exact solutions. We consider  $\mathcal{H}_0$  and  $\hat{h}$  for the cases  $\zeta = 1, 2, 3, 4$ .

 $\zeta = 1$  case (SUSY). If  $\zeta = 1$ , then j = 0 and the only state in the invariant subspace is  $u_0 = \text{const.}$  The Hamiltonian action on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is

$$\hat{h} = 0 \tag{3.9}$$

with eigenvalues and eigenfunctions

$$E(v = 0) = 0. \tag{3.10}$$

This is indeed the result of the SUSY system, as  $e^{W(x)/g}$  solves the Schödinger equation with energy zero. This state is not normalizable, hence, supersymmetry is broken dynamically. Indeed, a non-perturbative ground state energy has the form  $E_0^{n.p.} \sim e^{-S_b/g}$ .

 $\zeta = 2$  case. In this case we have to solve for eigenvalues of the matrix

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{4} \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{3.11}$$

which are simply

$$E(\nu = 0) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad E(\nu = 1) = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (3.12)



**Fig. 3.** A plot of eigenvalues  $E(v = \{0, 1, 2\}, g)$  for  $\zeta = 3$  as a function of coupling g. The solid lines represent the real part of the all orders in perturbation theory result (3.14), while the dashed lines represent the numerical solution to the Schrödinger equation. Notice that E(v = 1, g) and E(v = 2, g) in (3.14) collide and turn into complex conjugate pairs when  $g = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}}$ 

 $\zeta = 3$  case. Now the matrix becomes

Ì

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} & -g\\ \sqrt{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\\ 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.13)

with eigenvalues

$$E(\nu = 0, g) = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cos\left[\frac{1}{3} \arccos\left[3\sqrt{3}g\right]\right]$$
(3.14a)

$$E(\nu = 1, g) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \sin\left[\frac{1}{3} \arcsin\left[3\sqrt{3}g\right]\right]$$
(3.14b)

$$E(\nu = 2, g) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \cos\left[\frac{1}{3}\arccos\left[-3\sqrt{3}g\right]\right].$$
 (3.14c)

The plot of the real part of  $E(v = \{0, 1, 2\}, g)$  is given in Fig. 3, along with the numerical solution of the Schrödinger equation. Notice that while the ground state is described extremely well by the all-orders perturbative result,<sup>13</sup> E(v = 1, g) starts deviating significantly already at the coupling  $g \approx 0.1$ , while E(v = 2, g) shows a drastic deviation already at  $g \approx 0.05$ . Further, when  $g = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}}$ , the two pseudo-eigenvalues E(v = 1, g), E(v = 2, g) merge and for  $g > \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}}$  they become complex and turn into each other's complex conjugate pairs. This of course cannot happen for actual eigenvalues of the Schrödinger equation.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  It can be shown that the difference is in precise agreement with a complex bion for small g.



**Fig. 4.** A plot of perturbative eigenvalues (solid line) and the numerical solutions (dashed line) for the states  $E(v = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}, g)$  for  $\zeta = 4$  as a function of coupling g which are solutions of (3.16). Notice that while  $E(v = \{0, 1\}, g)$  agree quite well (up to non-perturbative corrections), the perturbative values of E(v = 2, g) and E(v = 3, g) merge at some value of g and turn into complex conjugate pairs

 $\zeta = 4$  case. The  $\hat{h}$  matrix is given by

$$\widehat{h} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4} & -\sqrt{3}g & 0\\ \sqrt{3} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & -\sqrt{3}g\\ 0 & 2 & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}\\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.15)

with the characteristic equation

$$\left(E^2 - \frac{1}{4}\right)\left(E^2 - \frac{9}{4}\right) = -12gE.$$
(3.16)

The form of the solutions is not particularly illuminating. We show in Fig. 4 a plot of the eigenvalues  $E(v = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}, g)$  which are the solution of the above equations, along with the numerical solution of the Schrödinger equation.

*Large*  $\zeta$  *case and an unsolved puzzle.* We found it amusing to also discuss briefly a case where  $\zeta$  is large. Although solutions to the algebraic equation  $\hat{h} u = E u$  do not have a nice closed form, they can nevertheless be easily plotted. In Fig. 5 we plot perturbative eigenvalues for three values of  $\zeta = 10$ , 15, 20. Notice that in all cases the top lying states merge into complex-conjugate pairs at some value of the coupling g. It is an interesting question of how and whether these complex parts can be cured by the non-perturbative contributions. Recall that the perturbation theory in all of these cases has a perfectly finite radius of convergence. Further, these imaginary parts are completely unambiguous. We suspect that non-perturbative contributions must somehow contribute a multi-valued



**Fig. 5.** A plot of first  $\zeta$  eigenvalues to all order of perturbation theory for  $\zeta = 10, 15, 20$  (left to right)

result with an imaginary part, possibly as a result of a complete resummation of multiinstantons, in order to cancel this pathology. At this moment, however, we do not know if this is true and present this as an open problem.

3.2. Complex saddles and the role of the hidden topological angle. The nonnormalizable states (3.2) provides a pseudo-QES system for which all orders perturbative results are obtained. But due to non-normalizibility, these states are not a part of the Hilbert space, and all orders perturbative results cannot be correct.

This is puzzling from a semi-classical point of view. Presumably, the all order perturbative result arises from the perturbative saddle, but there are no real non-perturbative saddles that can contribute to the path integral for the lowest  $\zeta$ -states. In the inverted potential,  $-V(x) = -\frac{1}{2}(W'(x)^2 + \zeta g W''(x))$ , a classical particle starting at the higher hill-top will over shoot the lower hill top and fly of to infinity. Thus, the action of such saddles is infinite and cannot contribute to semi-classical expansion of path integral. As discussed in depth in [15], the resolution of this puzzle is again given by complex bions.

The complex bion contribution to the energy for level  $\nu$  is given by (setting A = 1 in (1.11), note that  $S_b = 1/3$ ), one finds

$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = [\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \Gamma(\zeta - \nu) e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta - \nu)} e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + \cdots\right),$$
(3.17)

implying an imaginary ambiguous parts of the complex bion amplitude of the form,

Im 
$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \mp \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1 + \nu - \zeta)} e^{-S_b/g} \left(b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + \cdots\right)$$
(3.18)

Few comments are in order:

- For generic ζ, the contribution of the complex bion is two-fold ambiguous. This ambiguity cancels against the ambiguity in the Borel resummation of perturbation theory. If ζ ∈ N<sup>+</sup>, the ambiguity vanishes for first ζ states.
- $\zeta$ -odd: For level  $\nu = 0, 2, ..., \zeta 1$ , the complex bion increases the energy thanks to the hidden topological angle  $\theta_{HTA} = \pi$ . For levels  $\nu = 1, 3, ..., \zeta 2$ , the complex bion reduces the energy. The existence of these complex saddle gives non-perturbative contributions and is the reason that these states are not exactly solvable.

•  $\zeta$ -even: For levels  $\nu = 0, 2, ..., \zeta - 1$ , the complex bion reduces the energy. For level  $\nu = 1, 3, ..., \zeta - 2$ , the complex bion increases the energy compared to all order perturbative result.

Although we do not report here the details, all predictions arising from complex bions are realized in numerical solutions. In particular, the deficit of all orders convergent perturbative result and the numerical solution is matched to a very high accuracy by the complex bion contribution at weak coupling.

3.3. Bender–Wu method for the  $\zeta$ -deformed theory. The application of the Bender–Wu method to TDW system was performed using the BenderWu Mathematica package of [58]. Results are tabulated in Table 2a–c for  $\zeta = 1, 2, 3$  for the lowest lying four levels  $\nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$  in Appendix B. Further using the BenderWu package we are able to construct the series as an analytic function of  $\zeta$ .

The main conclusion of these analysis are

- For positive integer  $\zeta$ , Bender–Wu approach yields a convergent perturbation theory for level number  $\nu = 0, 1, \dots, \zeta 1$ . The summation of perturbation theory gives precisely the same result as in the pseudo-QES approach. These are all orders perturbative solutions to a non-perturbative problem. Unlike DSG, this is an incorrect, or rather incomplete, result. There exists non-perturbative corrections that arise from complex bion saddles. For higher states, Bender–Wu approach yields an asymptotic expansion.
- For generic ζ, Bender–Wu approach yields an asymptotic perturbation theory, which can be viewed as the leading part of the resurgent trans-series.

3.3.1. All orders perturbation theory. The TDW system with integer  $\zeta$  shows two types of behavior in perturbation theory. For the level numbers  $\nu = 0, 1, \ldots, \zeta - 1$  the perturbation series is convergent, and it is asymptotic otherwise. Recall that we observed a similar behavior in the DSG system, where the perturbation theory summed to an exact result at an appropriate  $\theta$  angle. We will see, however, that the perturbation theory, although having a finite radius of convergence, gives an incorrect, or rather incomplete, result. In fact, we will show that the perturbation theory result is obtained exactly (i.e. to all orders) from an ansatz in the wave-function  $P(x)e^{W(x)/g}$ , where P(x) is a polynomial of order  $\zeta - 1$ . Such an result is clearly non-normalizable, <sup>14</sup> and is therefore inadmissible as a solution.

This is in contrast to the exactly solvable states of the DSG example in which the real bion cancels exactly the complex bion contribution, and convergent perturbation theory yields exact results. In the present case, there are no real bion contributions to cancel the complex bion contributions. For the ground state v = 0, at leading order, the non-perturbative contribution of the complex bion is given by

$$\Delta E^{\text{n.p.}} = -\frac{g^{\zeta-1}}{2^{\zeta}\pi} \Gamma(\zeta) e^{\pm i\pi\zeta} e^{-S_b/g} + \cdots .$$
(3.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> As we discussed, it is most convenient to build the perturbation theory in the canonical normalization, in which replaces  $x \to \sqrt{g}x$ . The wave-function  $\psi \propto e^{W(\sqrt{g}x)/g}$  is then easily seen to be normalizable to any finite order in perturbation theory by expanding it around the global minimum  $x = -a/\sqrt{g}$ . In other words the perturbation theory is oblivious to the global boundary conditions.

If  $\zeta$  is an odd integer,  $\zeta = 1, 3, 5, ...$ , the contribution of the complex bion is positive. Note that  $\zeta = 1$  case is supersymmetric. For the present potential, supersymmetry is dynamically broken, and ground state energy is positive. In the bosonized language of the supersymmetric theory, the positivity of the ground state energy is due to the fact that the hidden topological angle is  $\theta_{\text{HTA}} = \pi$ .

For  $\zeta = 1$ , of course, perturbation theory is convergent and gives zero energy ground-state energy to all orders of perturbation theory. The perturbation theory for the wave function is convergent and upon summation, produces  $\psi \propto e^{W(\sqrt{g}x)/g}$ , the non-normalizable (perturbative) solution to the Schrödinger equation.

For  $\zeta = 2$  the perturbation theory is again rather trivial for the first two levels  $\nu = 0, 1$ , giving

$$E(v = 0) = -a, \quad E(v = 1) = +a, \quad a = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (3.20)

The reason for this is, as was pointed out in [76,77], that the system can be related to two supersymmetric systems with the substitution  $\tilde{W}'(x) = W'(x) - \frac{1}{x \pm a}$ . The ground states of these SUSY systems correspond to the ground state and the first excited state of the  $\zeta = 2$  tilted double well, and their perturbation theory is protected by supersymmetry.<sup>15</sup>

For  $\zeta = 3$ , perturbation theory is convergent, but does not truncate. For the lowest lying three states, few terms in the perturbative expansion and their sum gives:

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu = 0, g) = -1 - g + \frac{3g^2}{2} - 4g^3 + \frac{105g^4}{8} - 48g^5 + \frac{3003g^6}{16} -768g^7 + \frac{415701g^8}{128} - 14080g^9 + O\left(g^{10}\right) = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\cos\left(\frac{1}{3}\arccos\left(3\sqrt{3}g\right)\right),$$
  
$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu = 1, g) = 0 + 2g + 8g^3 + 96g^5 + 1536g^7 + 28160g^9 + 559104g^{11} + O\left(g^{12}\right) = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\sin\left(\frac{1}{3}\arcsin\left(3\sqrt{3}g\right)\right),$$

$$E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu = 2, g) = +1 - g - \frac{3g^2}{2} - 4g^3 - \frac{105g^4}{8} - 48g^5 - \frac{3003g^6}{16} -768g^7 - \frac{415701g^8}{128} - 14080g^9 - O\left(g^{10}\right) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\cos\left(\frac{1}{3}\arccos\left(-3\sqrt{3}g\right)\right).$$
(3.21)

The perturbation theory has a finite radius of convergence for these three lowest lying states. The radius of convergence is

$$g \le g_c = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}}.\tag{3.22}$$

Recall that  $g_c$  is a branch point of  $\arcsin\left(3\sqrt{3}g\right)$  and  $\arccos\left(3\sqrt{3}g\right)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Note that the map  $\tilde{W}'(x) = \tilde{W}'(x) - \frac{1}{x \pm a}$  is singular at either x = -a or at x = +a. Because of this the map disallows decomposition of the Hamiltonian into a product of two operators on the entire square-integrable Hilbert space. However insofar that the analysis is local around  $x = \pm a$ , this does not matter for the perturbation theory.

Note that for  $g < g_c$ , all these three solutions are real. At g = 0 these solutions start at -1, 0, 1. Perturbative eigenvalue spectrum changes as a function of g for  $g < g_c$ , but at  $g = g_c$ , two real higher eigenvalues collide and move to the complex plane, with real and imaginary parts. This perturbative conclusion is obviously incorrect, but it is not currently clear what is the mechanism which turns these complex eigenvalues of the convergent perturbation theory and QES solution into real ones.

Unlike the text-book examples of saddles such as instantons, in which, instantons lead to level splitting of otherwise degenerate levels, in the present case, the complex bions lead to either up or down shift of the energy compared to all order perturbative result. It is still meaningful to include non-perturbative contribution, because all orders perturbative result is known exactly.

3.3.2. Self-resurgence and the Dunne–Ünsal relation. Performing the Bender–Wu analysis via the Mathematica package BendeWu, we can find the sub-leading corrections to the leading factorial growth. For level v, we have:

$$a_{n}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(2)^{\zeta-2\nu-1}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\nu-\zeta)} \frac{(n+2\nu-\zeta)!}{(S_{b})^{n-\zeta+1}} \times \left[ b_{0}(\nu,\zeta) + \frac{S_{b} b_{1}(\nu,\zeta)}{n-\zeta+2\nu} + \frac{S_{b}^{2} b_{2}(\nu,\zeta)}{(n-\zeta+2\nu)(n-\zeta+2\nu-1)} + \cdots \right].$$
(3.23)

 $b_0 = 1$  and where the pre-factor is constrained by demanding that the Borel sum ambiguity of the leading asymptotic growth of the perturbation series is exactly cancelled by the complex bion contribution to the ground state energy.

Further, by using the BenderWu package [58] we can obtain a perturbative expansion for the energy eigenvalues as a function of coupling g, level number v, and parameter  $\zeta$ . For example, up to fourth order in g, we obtain an expression

$$E^{\text{pert}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = a_0(\nu, \zeta) + a_1(\nu, \zeta) g + a_2(\nu, \zeta) g^2 + a_3(\nu, \zeta) g^3 + a_4(\nu, \zeta) g^4 + \mathcal{O}(g^5),$$
(3.24)

where

$$a_{0}(\nu,\zeta) = \nu + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\zeta}{2},$$

$$a_{1}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{2} \left( -\zeta^{2} + 6\zeta\nu + 3\zeta - 6\nu^{2} - 6\nu - 2 \right),$$

$$a_{2}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{4} \left( 4\zeta^{3} - 21\zeta^{2}(2\nu+1) + \zeta \left( 102\nu^{2} + 102\nu + 35 \right) - 2 \left( 34\nu^{3} + 51\nu^{2} + 35\nu + 9 \right) \right)$$

$$a_{3}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{4} \left( -16\zeta^{4} + 123\zeta^{3}(2\nu+1) - 2\zeta^{2} \left( 498\nu^{2} + 498\nu + 173 \right) + 3\zeta \left( 500\nu^{3} + 750\nu^{2} + 528\nu + 139 \right) - 2 \left( 375\nu^{4} + 750\nu^{3} + 792\nu^{2} + 417\nu + 89 \right) \right),$$

$$a_{4}(\nu,\zeta) = \frac{1}{16} \Big( 336\zeta^{5} - 3453\zeta^{4}(2\nu+1) + 8\zeta^{3} \Big( 5010\nu^{2} + 5010\nu + 1753 \Big) \\ - 6\zeta^{2} \Big( 16330\nu^{3} + 24495\nu^{2} + 17483\nu + 4659 \Big) \\ + \zeta \Big( 106890\nu^{4} + 213780\nu^{3} + 230550\nu^{2} + 123660\nu + 27073 \Big) \\ - 2 \Big( 21378\nu^{5} + 53445\nu^{4} + 76850\nu^{3} + 61830\nu^{2} + 27073\nu + 5013 \Big) \Big).$$
(3.25)

Using the Dunne–Ünsal relation, the knowledge of perturbative expansion around the perturbative saddle at order  $g^n$  is sufficient to deduce the fluctuations around the leading non-perturbative saddle at order  $g^{n-1}$ . The leading non-perturbative saddle is the complex bion. The non-perturbative contribution to the energy for level  $\nu$  is given by

$$E_{\pm}^{\text{n.p.}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = [\mathcal{C}B]_{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\nu!} \left(\frac{g}{2}\right)^{\zeta - 2\nu - 1} \Gamma(\zeta - \nu) e^{\pm i\pi(\zeta - \nu)} e^{-S_b/g} \mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$$
(3.26)

where  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  is the fluctuation operator around the complex bion saddle. According to the result of [9,10] (see also [71]),  $\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  is completely dictated by  $E^{\text{pert.}}(\nu, g, \zeta)$  in a constructive way.

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{fluc}}(\nu, g, \zeta) = \frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} \exp\left[S_b \int_0^g \frac{dg}{g^2} \left(\frac{\partial E^{\text{pert.}}}{\partial \nu} - 1 + \frac{2g(\nu + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\zeta}{2})}{S_b}\right)\right]$$
$$= b_0(\nu, \zeta) + b_1(\nu, \zeta) g + b_2(\nu, \zeta) g^2 + b_3(\nu, \zeta) g^3 + \dots, \quad (3.27)$$

where

$$b_{0}(\nu, \zeta) = 1,$$

$$b_{1}(\nu, \zeta) = \frac{1}{6} \left( -21\zeta^{2} + 3\zeta(34\nu + 23) - 6\nu(17\nu + 23) - 53 \right),$$

$$b_{2}(\nu, \zeta) = \frac{1}{72} \left( 441\zeta^{4} - 36\zeta^{3}(119\nu + 60) + 3\zeta^{2} \left( 4896\nu^{2} + 4632\nu + 973 \right) \right)$$

$$- 6\zeta \left( 3468\nu^{3} + 4788\nu^{2} + 1898\nu + 13 \right) + 10404\nu^{4} + 19152\nu^{3}$$

$$+ 11388\nu^{2} + 156\nu - 1277 \right),$$

$$b_{3}(\nu, \zeta) = \frac{1}{1296} \left( -9261\zeta^{6} + 567\zeta^{5}(238\nu + 79) - 162\zeta^{4} \left( 4879\nu^{2} + 2883\nu + 143 \right) \right)$$

$$+ 27\zeta^{3} \left( 87856\nu^{3} + 70704\nu^{2} + 4014\nu - 4929 \right)$$

$$- 18\zeta^{2} \left( 213282\nu^{4} + 214524\nu^{3} + 7605\nu^{2} - 45093\nu - 1465 \right)$$

$$+ 9\zeta \left( 353736\nu^{5} + 431460\nu^{4} + 6336\nu^{3} - 181836\nu^{2} + 5794\nu + 45941 \right)$$

$$- 1061208\nu^{6} - 1553256\nu^{5} - 28512\nu^{4} + 1091016\nu^{3}$$

$$- 52146\nu^{2} - 826938\nu - 336437 \right).$$
(3.28)

Setting level number v = 0, 1, one obtains for the fluctuations around the complex bion event contribution to the ground state and first excited state energies as

$$b_{0}^{\nu=0}(\zeta) = 1$$

$$b_{1}^{\nu=0}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{6} \left(-53 + 69\zeta - 21\zeta^{2}\right)$$

$$b_{2}^{\nu=0}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{72} \left(-1277 - 78\zeta + 2919\zeta^{2} - 2160\zeta^{3} + 441\zeta^{4}\right),$$

$$b_{3}^{\nu=0}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{1296} \left(-9261\zeta^{6} + 44793\zeta^{5} - 23166\zeta^{4} - 133083\zeta^{3} + 26370\zeta^{2} + 413469\zeta - 336437\right)$$
(3.29)

and

$$b_{0}^{\nu=1}(\zeta) = 1$$
  

$$b_{1}^{\nu=1}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{6} \left( -21\zeta^{2} + 171\zeta - 293 \right)$$
  

$$b_{2}^{\nu=1}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{72} \left( 441\zeta^{4} - 6444\zeta^{3} + 31503\zeta^{2} - 61002\zeta + 39823 \right),$$
  

$$b_{3}^{\nu=1}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{1296} \left( -9261\zeta^{6} + 179739\zeta^{5} - 1280610\zeta^{4} + 4256415\zeta^{3} - 6999354\zeta^{2} + 5952879\zeta - 2767481 \right).$$
 (3.30)

On the other hand, we can find these coefficients  $b_1, b_2, b_3, \ldots$  approximately from the explicit calculation of the perturbation theory via the procedure described in Sect. 2.3.2. We get for  $\nu = 0$ 

$$b_{1}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -8.833333332924 + 11.49999999835448\zeta - 3.499999997041193\zeta^{2} + o(10^{-9}\zeta^{3}), b_{2}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -17.736112193 - 1.0833289712\zeta + 40.5416588043985\zeta^{2} - 29.99999157670543\zeta^{3} + 6.12499401506749\zeta^{4} + o(10^{-6}\zeta^{5}), b_{3}(\nu = 0, \zeta) = -259.595 + 319.03\zeta + 20.3565\zeta^{2} - 102.697\zeta^{3} - 17.8679\zeta^{4} + 34.559\zeta^{5} - 7.14458\zeta^{6} + o(10^{-4}\zeta^{7}),$$
(3.31)

and for  $\nu = 1$ 

$$\begin{split} b_1(\nu = 1, \zeta) &= -48.833333096294 + 28.49999939463613\zeta \\ &\quad -3.499999304322683\zeta^2 + o(10^{-7}\zeta^3), \\ b_2(\nu = 1, \zeta) &= 553.096586547 - 847.2483729877\zeta + 437.5397921020106\zeta^2 \\ &\quad -89.4987081484367\zeta^3 + 6.12440133941877\zeta^4 + o(10^{-4}\zeta^5), \\ b_3(\nu = 1, \zeta) &= -2134.65 + 4591.34\zeta - 5398.5\zeta^2 + 3282.73\zeta^3 - 987.407646031719\zeta^4 \\ &\quad +138.4467901243447\zeta^5 - 7.08375962476414\zeta^6 + o(10^{-2}\zeta^7). \end{split}$$

$$(3.32)$$

The reader is welcome to check that (3.31) and (3.32) are numerically consistent with (3.29) at v = 0 and with (3.30) at v = 1 within the relative error 0.05% and 0.8%, respectively.

# 4. Connection to Quantum Field Theory

Before conclusions we take an opportunity to comment on the potential significance of these systems and one of our motivation in studying them.

On the one hand, these quantum mechanical systems are helping us establish the rules of an all orders semi-classical expansion (i.e. exact semi-classics). On the other hand, these systems have remarkable similarities with some quantum field theories, in particular, to gauge theories [66] and non-linear sigma models<sup>16</sup> [19] with matter fields.

In the present context,  $\zeta \in (-n_f, -n_f + 1, \dots, n_f)$ -deformed theories arise as the sectors of a multi-flavor theory with one bosonic position field x(t) and multiple Grassmann valued-fields  $\psi^I(t)$  where  $I = 1, \dots n_f$ . For  $n_f = 1$ , this theory is supersymmetric for the appropriate choice of couplings. We can do a similar construction in gauge theories and sigma models. First, we can promote a bosonic theory into a supersymmetric one by adding a Grassmann valued quantum field with the right gauge, global, Lorentz quantum numbers and interactions. Then, we can replicate the fermionic sector and obtain the multi-flavor version. This procedure is sketched in Quantum Mechanics as well as in the Yang-Mills and  $CP^{N-1}$  theories below.

	Bosonic	;	SUSY	multi-flavor	generalization
QM : Yang Mills : CP <sup>N-1</sup> :	$\frac{x(t)}{A_{\mu}}$ $z_{i}$	$\rightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ $\rightarrow$	$ \begin{array}{c} (x(t),\psi(t)) \longrightarrow \\ (A_{\mu},\psi_{\alpha}) \longrightarrow \\ (z_{i},\psi_{i}) \longrightarrow \end{array} $	$(x(t), \psi^{I}(t)),$ $(A_{\mu}, \psi^{I}_{\alpha}),$ $(z_{i}, \psi^{I}_{i}),$	$I = 1, \dots, n_f$ $I = 1, \dots, n_f$ $I = 1, \dots, n_f$

There is currently building up evidence that this class of "replica theories" has some number of very special properties, similar to supersymmetric ones.

• Consider the twisted (or graded) partition function

$$\tilde{Z}(L) = \operatorname{tr} e^{-HL} (-1)^F, \qquad (4.1)$$

where *F* is a fermion number. In supersymmetric theories, this is the supersymmetric Witten index [61]. It is an invariant quantity independent of *L*. In our multi-flavor QM system with odd number of  $n_f$ ,  $\tilde{Z}(L) = 0$  either for the supersymmetric theories with  $n_f = 1$ , as well as non-supersymmetric theories with  $n_f = 3, 5, 7, \dots$ <sup>17</sup> This vanishing of course implies an exact spectral cancellation over the whole spectrum.<sup>18</sup> In similarly constructed QFT, in particular, in QCD(adj), at large-*N* limit,  $\tilde{Z}(L)$  satisfies volume independence, namely

$$\frac{\partial Z(L)}{\partial L}\Big|_{N=\infty} = 0. \tag{4.2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For an explanation of this connection and proof of volume independence in the  $CP^{N-1}$  model see [78].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Vanishing index for the supersymmetric case either imply absence of supersymmetric ground states or Bose–Fermi paired supersymmetric ground states. Our TDW is an example of the former and DSG is an example of the latter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> For DW,  $I_W = 0 = 0 - 0$  because there is neither bosonic nor fermionic supersymmetric ground states, and in the SG,  $I_W = 0 = 1 - 1$  because there is a Bose–Fermi paired set of ground states. In both cases, the non-zero spectrum exhibits spectral cancellation.

In particular, there are no phase transitions as a function of L. In supersymmetric theory, it is known that this is due to the exact spectral cancellations (modulo ground states for  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SYM, which gives the index  $I_W = \tilde{Z}(L) = N$ ), a consequence of supersymmetry. In the non-supersymmetric theories, especially, the absence of the confinement/deconfinement phase transition [66] is extremely intriguing, and points to spectral cancellation even in non-supersymmetric theories with a potentially emergent fermionic symmetry at large-N.<sup>19</sup> To see this, note that if the factor  $(-1)^F$  is dropped, the system has a thermal interpretation and undergoes a confinement/deconfinement transition at some  $L = L_c$  due to the Hagedorn instability implies that there must exist an extremely good spectral cancellation between bosonic and fermionic sectors, pointing to an emergent fermionic symmetry in the large-N limit [67,79,80]. In this sense, our multi-flavor QM systems may form prototype for much more complicated QFTs, such as QCD(adj) and two dimensional sigma models with multi-fermions.

- In multi-flavor theories, there also exist real and complex bions, correlated instantonanti-instanton pairs. In QCD(adj), the hidden topological angle associated with the complex bion is  $\theta_{\text{HTA}} = (4n_f - 3)\pi$ , [30], In particular,  $\theta_{\text{HTA}}$  is quantized for integer values of the number of flavors. This implies, as shown in [30], that the non-perturbative contributions to the gluon condensate (and by trace anomaly to the vacuum energy) that arise from neutral and magnetic bions interfere with each other and their total contribution vanishes. This is an identical mechanism to that described by (2.23), where cancellation between the real and complex bion takes place. This also suggest that perturbation theory for QCD(adj) may have a finite radius of convergence for some special set of states. Further, analogous multi-flavor  $CP^{N-1}$  systems show similar behavior [19].
- More concretely, the DSG quantum mechanics is related to certain twisted compactification of two dimensional sigma models, and is connected to them via adiabatic continuity. In particular, it appears as the low energy limit of the two dimensional SU(2) principle chiral model and O(3) model with fermions on a small circle limit [14,19]. For the  $n_f = 1$  flavor SUSY theory, the cancellation between the real and complex bion correspond to the vanishing of the spin wave condensate in the field theory. This quantum mechanics also corresponds to the low energy limit of the circle compactified  $\eta$ -deformed principle chiral model for a special choice of parameters [52].

We interpret the existence of both real and complex non-BPS saddles, the quantization of hidden topological angles, and the exact spectral cancellation as useful analogs between the quantum mechanical systems we study and the QFTs with the structure given above. While the situation in quantum field theories in general is undoubtedly much more subtle, it is useful to keep in mind the similarities between these two cases, and investigate it further.

# 5. Conclusion and Outlook

This work is a step towards exact semi-classical treatment of path integral, and reveals surprising resurgent relations between the perturbation theory around the perturbative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The existence of an emergent fermionic symmetry is not ruled out by Coleman–Mandula theorem, because  $N = \infty$  is free in terms of hadrons, and has trivial S-matrix.

vacuum and around non-perturbative complex saddles. We were able to treat a class of theories parametrized by  $\zeta$  in a unified manner, where  $\zeta = 0$  is the bosonic,  $\zeta = 1$  is supersymmetric,  $\zeta = 2, 3, \ldots$  are either QES or pseudo-QES, and generic values of  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$  are also equally interesting. Using the Bender–Wu method, we computed the perturbative coefficient of these theories as a function of  $\zeta$  and the level number  $\nu$ . By computing the perturbative coefficients explicitly we checked that the large-order asymptotic growth of the perturbation theory is correctly described by the early terms of the perturbative fluctuations around the complex-bion saddle via traditional resurgence, a late-term early-term correspondence.

For both systems we study, whenever  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  the factorial growth of the perturbation theory vanishes for the first  $\zeta$  states. Using the technique of QES, we analytically show that this perturbation theory for the first  $\zeta$  states converges. This all-order perturbative solution gives an exact solution if it satisfies the correct boundary condition, but otherwise suffers from non-perturbative corrections.

There was a long-standing puzzle in the QES literature about this subtlety: the perturbative solution gives an exact solution while there exists a real non-perturbative classical solution that we call a real bion, in one case, and the non-perturbative correction exists while a real bion is absent in the another case.

By analyticity in  $\zeta$  we conclude that the effect of the complex contribution, called the complex bion, is present for  $\zeta \in \mathbb{N}^+$  without any imaginary ambiguities, a phenomenon which we call the Cheshire Cat resurgence. We find that contributions of real and complex bions must be canceled in order for the convergent perturbative to give an exact answer. This emphasizes the importance of complex bions in the semiclassical analysis.

We also consider the unconventional type of resurgent relation—the self-resurgence. In the double sine-Gordon and titled double-well cases, early terms of the expansion around the perturbative saddle give sufficient information about early terms of the expansion around complex bions via the Dunne–Ünsal relation. By exploiting the traditional resurgence, this means that early terms of the perturbative series know about the late terms of the same series: i.e. the perturbative expansion is self-resurgent. We checked the self-resurgent property by explicitly computing the perturbative series, and found it to be in agreement with the Dunne–Ünsal relation.

It is an important future study to understand the effect of complex bions in the semiclassical analysis from the viewpoint of the path integral expression. Application of the Picard–Lefschetz theory to the (UV and IR regularized) path integral gathers much attention for numerical study of lattice field theories in order to tame the sign problem [81–84]. If the classical action takes complex values, then there exist situations where interference of multiple complex classical solutions are important for physical observables [85–95], which remind us of the interference between real and complex bions. However, the models in this study do not have the sign problem since the classical action is a real functional at least when the coupling is physical.<sup>20</sup> This poses an interesting question on how we can understand the contribution of complex bions with nonzero HTA based on the Lefschetz-thimble decomposition of path integral. Quite possibly, some conditions on the standard Lefschetz-thimble approached must be relaxed to accommodate the complex bion contribution to path integral.

Finally, as we have already explained in Sect. 4, quantum mechanics studied in this paper has similarities with multi-flavor QCD with adjoint fermions, and some nonlinear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> A sign problem does exist in the formulation of (1.2), as the "Dirac operator" determinant is not positive definite. The study of this systems however can be reduced to the study of the  $\zeta$ -deformed systems with  $\zeta = -n_f/2, \ldots, n_f/2$ , all of which do not posses the sign problem.

sigma models with fermions. These theories possess some interesting properties to the supersymmetric field theories, much like our  $\zeta = 3, 5, \ldots$  theories possessing most of the properties of the  $\zeta = 1$  supersymmetric theory. By comparing properties of the hidden topological angle, we can speculate that magnetic and neutral bions in QCD(adj) correspond to real and complex bions in quantum mechanics. It is an interesting topic to understand the non-perturbative dynamics of gauge theories by discussing constructive or destructive interference of real and complex bions [96]. It is also a great task to explain the relation between generic asymptotic nature of the perturbation theory, quantization of the hidden topological angle, and potentially, convergent perturbation theory for a subset of states in quantum field theories [14,21,97].

Acknowledgements. We are grateful to Gerald Dunne, Edward Shuryak and Sasha Turbiner for their input and comments. TS is specially thankful for the discussions with Michael Berry which elucidated Dingle's self-resurgence formula. The work of M.Ü. was supported by the DOE grant DE-SC0013036. The work of T.S. was partly supported by the DOE grant DE-FG02-03ER41260. The work of C.K. is supported by Center for Mathematical Sciences and Applications at Harvard University. Y.T. was supported by Grants-in-Aid for JSPS fellows (No. 25-6615) when this work started and is now supported by Special Postdoctoral Researchers Program for Leading Graduate Schools, MEXT, Japan. M.Ü.'s work was partially supported by the Center for Mathematical Sciences and Applications (CMSA) at Harvard University, where this work has begun.

# A. Tables for Perturbative Coefficients

We here show tables of perturbative coefficients of the DSG and TDW systems at  $\zeta = 1$ , 2, and 3.

	$\nu = 0$	$\nu = 1$	$\nu = 2$	$\nu = 3$
(a) DSG $\zeta$	= 1			
1	0	1	2	3
g	0	$-\frac{1}{4}$	-1	$-\frac{9}{4}$
$g^2$	0	$-\frac{3}{32}$	$-\frac{9}{16}$	$-\frac{57}{32}$
$g^3$	0	$-\frac{3}{32}$	$-\frac{27}{32}$	$-\frac{117}{32}$
$g^4$	0	$-\frac{273}{2048}$	$-\frac{1809}{1024}$	$-\frac{21027}{2048}$
$g^5$	0	$-\frac{15}{64}$	$-\frac{2295}{512}$	$-\frac{2205}{64}$
$g^6$	0	$-\frac{31443}{65536}$	$-\frac{425169}{32768}$	$-\frac{8546937}{65536}$
$g^7$	0	$-\frac{18141}{16384}$	$-\frac{339957}{8192}$	$-\frac{8846739}{16384}$
$g^8$	0	$-\frac{23700837}{8388608}$	$-\frac{603458181}{4194304}$	$-\frac{20134192143}{8388608}$
$g^9$	0			5933126187
a <sup>10</sup>	0	524288 6370376181	131072 282618414063	524288 15066484101519
g	U	268435456	134217728	268435456

**Table 1.** Tables of perturbative coefficients of the DSG system at  $\zeta = 1, 2, \text{ and } 3$ 

	$\nu = 0$	$\nu = 1$	$\nu = 2$	$\nu = 3$
(b) DSG ζ =	= 2			
1	_1	1	3	5
1	$\overline{2}$	2	$\overline{2}$	2
g	1	1	$-\frac{3}{2}$	
0	8	8	8	8
$g^2$	0	0	$-\frac{3}{16}$	$-\frac{15}{16}$
			16	10
$g^3$	0	0	$-\frac{15}{64}$	$-\frac{105}{64}$
4			417	4065
$g^4$	0	0	$-\frac{1024}{1024}$	$-\frac{1024}{1024}$
5	0	0	3525	47355
85	0	0	$-\frac{1}{4096}$	- 4096
~6	0	0	68433	1251345
g	0	0	$-\frac{32768}{32768}$	32768
<i>o</i> 7	0	0	739695	18168465
8	0	0	131072	131072
$g^8$	0	0	69923685	2275665765
0			4194304	4194304
g <sup>9</sup>	0	0	- 892497103	
			16///216 24410041071	10///210
$g^{10}$	0	0	$-\frac{24410041071}{134217728}$	$-\frac{1337730078875}{134217728}$
(c) DSG ( =	= 3		134217720	154217726
1	-1	0	1	2
	1	1	1	1
g	$\overline{4}$	$\overline{2}$	$\overline{4}$	$-\frac{1}{2}$
~ <sup>2</sup>	1	0	1	5
8	$-\frac{1}{32}$	0	32	$-\frac{16}{16}$
<i>a</i> <sup>3</sup>	0	0	0	
0		Ū.		32
$g^4$	$\frac{1}{1}$	0	$-\frac{1}{1}$	- 985
0	2048		2048	1024
$g^5$	0	0	0	$-\frac{1213}{512}$
	1		1	218165
8°	$-\frac{1}{65536}$	0	65536	$-\frac{210100}{32768}$
7	00000	0	00000	168945
<i>g</i> ′	0	0	0	- 8192
~8	5	0	5	290599445
8	8388608	U	- 8388608	4194304
<i>。</i> 9	0	0	0	_ 32709615
8	-	0	-	131072
$g^{10}$		0		128334137795
0	268435456		268435456	134217728

Table 1. Continued

	$\nu = 0$	$\nu = 1$	$\nu = 2$	
(a) TDW	$\zeta = 1$			
1	0	1	2	
g	0	-3	-12	
$g^2$	0	$-\frac{39}{2}$	-141	
$g^3$	0	-270	-3330	
$g^4$	0	$-\frac{41433}{8}$	$-\frac{418953}{4}$	
$g^5$	0	-121104	-3895866	
6		52149999	1300600941	
go	0			
$g^7$	0	-97888095	-7397575110	
<i>o</i> 8	0	412171252725	23088242197365	
8	Ū.	128	64	
$g^9$	0	$-\frac{229264880327}{2}$	-18643301573274	
. 10	0	1121697677785665	129681560992818075	
810	0	256	128	
(b) TDW	$\zeta = 2$	1	3	
1	$-\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	
g	0	0	-6	
$g^2$	0	0	-51	
<sub>0</sub> 3	0	0	-909	
0	0	0	88545	
<i>g</i> <sup>4</sup>	0	0	- 4	
<i>"</i> 5	0	0	2595087	
8	0	0	4	
$g^6$	0	0	$-\frac{172937201}{8}$	
$g^7$	0	0	$-\frac{6355598589}{2}$	
0			8 2022705878757	
$g^{8}$	0	0	64	
<i>°</i> 9	0	0	86088409115175	
8	0	0	64 7777562767520055	
$g^{10}$	0	0	$-\frac{111302101329033}{128}$	
	$\nu = 0$	$\nu = 1$	$\nu = 2$	$\nu = 3$
(c) TDW	$\zeta = 3$			
1	-1	0	1	2
g	-1	2	-1	-10
$g^2$	$\frac{3}{2}$	0	$-\frac{3}{2}$	-105
$g^3$	-4	8	-4	-2290
<u>4</u>	105	0	105	270705
8	8	U		
$g^5$	-48	96	-48	-2388810

**Table 2.** Tables of perturbative coefficients of the TDW system at  $\zeta = 1, 2, \text{ and } 3$ 

	$\nu = 0$	$\nu = 1$	$\nu = 2$	$\nu = 3$
g <sup>6</sup>	$\frac{3003}{16}$	0	$-\frac{3003}{16}$	$-\frac{761448465}{8}$
$g^7$	-768	1536	-768	-4152537390
$g^8$	$\frac{415701}{128}$	0	$-\frac{415701}{128}$	$-\frac{12464873944005}{64}$
$g^9$	-14080	28160	-14080	-9704850553210
$g^{10}$	$\frac{15935205}{256}$	0	$-\frac{15935205}{256}$	$-\frac{65234638372161615}{128}$

#### Table 2. Continued

### References

- Dyson, F.J.: Divergence of perturbation theory in quantum electrodynamics. Phys. Rev. 85, 631– 632 (1952).
- 2. Ecalle, J.: Les Fonctions Resurgentes, Vols. I-III. Publications Mathématiques d'Orsay (1981)
- Voros, A.: The return of the quartic oscillator. The complex wkb method. Ann. Inst. H. Poincare 39, 211– 338 (1983)
- 4. Candelpergher, B., Nosmas, J.-C., Pham, F.: Approche de la résurgence. Hermann, Paris (1993)
- Delabaere, E., Pham, F.: Resurgent methods in semi-classical asymptotics. eAnn. IHP Phys. thór. 71, 1– 94 (1999)
- Kawai, T., Takei, Y.: Algebraic Analysis of Singular Perturbation Theory, vol. 227. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2005)
- 7. Bogomolny, E.: Calculation of instanton-anti-instanton contributions in quantum mechanics. Phys. Lett. B **91**, 431–435 (1980)
- 8. Zinn-Justin, J.: Multi-instanton contributions in quantum mechanics. Nucl. Phys. B 192, 125–140 (1981)
- Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Uniform WKB, Multi-instantons, and Resurgent Trans-Series. Phys. Rev. D 89, 105009 (2014). arXiv:1401.5202
- Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Generating non-perturbative physics from perturbation theory. Phys. Rev. D 89, 041701 (2014). arXiv:1306.4405
- Berry, M.V. Howls C.J.: Hyperasymptotics for integrals with saddles. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 434, 657–675 (1991)
- Delabaere, E., Howls, C.J.: Global asymptotics for multiple integrals with boundaries. Duke Math. J. 112, 199–264 (04, 2002)
- Howls, C.J.: Hyperasymptotics for multidimensional integrals, exact remainder terms and the global connection problem. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 453, 2271 (1997)
- Cherman, A., Dorigoni, D., Ünsal, M.: Decoding perturbation theory using resurgence: Stokes phenomena, new saddle points and Lefschetz thimbles. arXiv:1403.1277
- Behtash, A., Dunne, G.V., Schaefer, T., Sulejmanpasic, T., Unsal, M.: Toward Picard–Lefschetz theory of path integrals, complex saddles and resurgence. arXiv:1510.03435
- Misumi, T., Nitta, M., Sakai, N.: Resurgence in sine-Gordon quantum mechanics: Exact agreement between multi-instantons and uniform WKB. arXiv:1507.00408
- Argyres, P.C., Unsal, M.: The semi-classical expansion and resurgence in gauge theories: new perturbative, instanton, bion, and renormalon effects. JHEP 08, 063 (2012). arXiv:1206.1890
- Argyres, P., Unsal, M.: A semiclassical realization of infrared renormalons. Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 121601 (2012). arXiv:1204.1661
- Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Continuity and Resurgence: towards a continuum definition of the CP(N-1) model. Phys. Rev. D 87, 025015 (2013). arXiv:1210.3646
- Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Resurgence and trans-series in quantum field theory: the CP(N-1) model. JHEP 1211, 170 (2012). arXiv:1210.2423
- Cherman, A., Dorigoni, D., Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Resurgence in quantum field theory: nonperturbative effects in the principal chiral model. Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, 021601 (2014). arXiv:1308.0127
- 22. Anber, M.M., Sulejmanpasic, T.: The renormalon diagram in gauge theories on  $\mathbb{R}3 \times \mathbb{S}1$ . JHEP **01**, 139 (2015). arXiv:1410.0121
- Başar, G., Dunne, G.V.: Resurgence and the Nekrasov–Shatashvili limit: connecting weak and strong coupling in the Mathieu and Lamé systems. JHEP 02, 160 (2015). arXiv:1501.05671
- Escobar-Ruiz, M.A., Shuryak, E., Turbiner, A.V.: Three-loop correction to the instanton density. II. The Sine-Gordon potential. Phys. Rev. D 92, 025047 (2015). arXiv:1505.05115

- Escobar-Ruiz, M.A., Shuryak, E., Turbiner, A.V.: Three-loop correction to the instanton density. I. The quartic double well potential. Phys. Rev. D 92, 025046 (2015). arXiv:1501.03993
- Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Deconstructing zero: resurgence, supersymmetry and complex saddles. arXiv:1609.05770
- Poppitz, E., Schäfer, T., Ünsal, M.: Continuity, deconfinement, and (super) Yang–Mills theory. JHEP 1210, 115 (2012). arXiv:1205.0290
- Poppitz, E., Schäfer, T., Ünsal, M.: Universal mechanism of (semi-classical) deconfinement and thetadependence for all simple groups. JHEP 1303, 087 (2013). arXiv:1212.1238
- 29. Honda, M.: Borel summability of perturbative series in 4D N = 2 and 5D N = 1 supersymmetric theories. Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**, 211601 (2016). arXiv:1603.06207
- Behtash, A., Sulejmanpasic, T., Schäfer, T., Ünsal, M.: Hidden topological angles in path integrals. Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 041601 (2015). arXiv:1502.06624
- Behtash, A., Poppitz, E., Sulejmanpasic, T., Ünsal, M.: The curious incident of multi-instantons and the necessity of Lefschetz thimbles. JHEP 11, 175 (2015). arXiv:1507.04063
- Behtash, A., Dunne, G.V., Schäfer, T., Sulejmanpasic, T., Ünsal, M.: Complexified path integrals, exact saddles and supersymmetry. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 011601 (2016). arXiv:1510.00978
- Buividovich, P.V., Dunne, G.V., Valgushev, S.N.: Complex path integrals and saddles in two-dimensional gauge theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 132001 (2016). arXiv:1512.09021
- Marino, M., Schiappa, R., Weiss, M.: Nonperturbative effects and the large-order behavior of matrix models and topological strings. Commun. Number Theor. Phys. 2, 349–419 (2008). arXiv:0711.1954
- Mariño, M.: Lectures on non-perturbative effects in large N gauge theories, matrix models and strings. Fortsch. Phys. 62, 455–540 (2014). arXiv:1206.6272
- Aniceto, I., Schiappa, R., Vonk, M.: The resurgence of instantons in string theory. Commun. Numb. Theor. Phys. 6, 339–496 (2012). arXiv:1106.5922
- Schiappa, R., Vaz, R.: The resurgence of instantons: multi-cut stokes phases and the Painleve II equation. Commun. Math. Phys. 330, 655–721 (2014). arXiv:1302.5138
- Couso-Santamaría, R., Edelstein, J.D., Schiappa, R., Vonk, M.: Resurgent transseries and the holomorphic anomaly. Ann. H. Poincare 17, 331–399 (2016). arXiv:1308.1695
- Couso-Santamaría, R., Edelstein, J.D., Schiappa, R., Vonk, M.: Resurgent transseries and the holomorphic anomaly: nonperturbative closed strings in local CP<sup>2</sup>. Commun. Math. Phys. 338, 285–346 (2015). arXiv:1407.4821
- 40. Vonk, M.: Resurgence and topological strings. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 93, 221 (2015). arXiv:1502.05711
- Couso-Santamaría, R., Schiappa, R., Vaz, R.: On asymptotics and resurgent structures of enumerative Gromov–Witten invariants. arXiv:1605.07473
- Aniceto, I., Schiappa, R.: Nonperturbative ambiguities and the reality of resurgent transseries. arXiv:1308.1115
- Hatsuda, Y., Marino, M., Moriyama, S., Okuyama, K.: Non-perturbative effects and the refined topological string. JHEP 09, 168 (2014). arXiv:1306.1734
- Basar, G., Dunne, G.V., Ünsal, M.: Resurgence theory, ghost-instantons, and analytic continuation of path integrals. JHEP 10, 041 (2013). arXiv:1308.1108
- Misumi, T., Nitta, M., Sakai, N.: Neutral bions in the CP<sup>N−1</sup> model. JHEP 1406, 164 (2014). arXiv:1404.7225
- Misumi, T., Nitta, M., Sakai, N.: Classifying bions in Grassmann sigma models and non-Abelian gauge theories by D-branes. PTEP 2015, 033B02 (2015). arXiv:1409.3444
- 47. Dorigoni, D.: An introduction to resurgence, trans-series and alien calculus. arXiv:1411.3585
- Fujimori, T., Kamata, S., Misumi, T., Nitta, M., Sakai, N.: Non-perturbative contributions from complexified solutions in CP<sup>N-1</sup> models. arXiv:1607.04205
- 49. Gukov, S., Marino, M., Putrov, P.: Resurgence in complex Chern–Simons theory. arXiv:1605.07615
- Liam Fitzpatrick, A., Kaplan, J.: On the late-time behavior of virasoro blocks and a classification of semiclassical saddles. arXiv:1609.07153
- Fitzpatrick, A.L., Kaplan, J., Li, D., Wang, J.: On information loss in AdS<sub>3</sub>/CFT<sub>2</sub>. JHEP 05, 109 (2016). arXiv:1603.08925
- 52. Demulder, S., Dorigoni, D., Thompson, D.C.: Resurgence in  $\eta$ -deformed principal chiral models. arXiv:1604.07851
- Turbiner, A., Ushveridze, A.: Spectral singularities and quasi-exactly solvable quantal problem. Phys. Lett. A 126(3), 181–183 (1987). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(87)90456-7
- Turbiner, A.: Quasi-exactly-solvable problems and sl(2) algebra. Commun. Math. Phys. 118, 467 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01466727
- Turbiner, A.V.: Lame equation, sl(2) algebra and isospectral deformations. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 22, 1 (1989). https://doi.org/10.1088/0305-4470/22/1/001

- Witten, E.: Dynamical breaking of supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B188, 513 (1981). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0550-3213(81)90006-7
- Berry, M.V.: Dingle's self-resurgence formula. Nonlinearity 30, R25 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1361-6544/aa6c78
- Sulejmanpasic, T., Ünsal, M.: Aspects of perturbation theory in quantum mechanics: the BenderWu Mathematica package. arXiv:1608.08256
- 59. Bender, C.M., Wu, T.T.: Anharmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev. 184, 1231–1260 (1969)
- Bender, C.M., Wu, T.: Anharmonic oscillator. 2: A study of perturbation theory in large order. Phys. Rev. D7, 1620–1636 (1973)
- 61. Witten, E.: Constraints on supersymmetry breaking. Nucl. Phys. B202, 253 (1982)
- Cooper, F., Khare, A., Sukhatme, U.: Supersymmetry and quantum mechanics. Phys. Rep. 251, 267– 385 (1995). arXiv:hep-th/9405029
- Turbiner, A.V.: One-dimensional quasi-exactly solvable Schrödinger equations. Phys. Rep. 642, 1– 71 (2016). arXiv:1603.02992
- Klishevich, S.M., Plyushchay, M.S.: Nonlinear supersymmetry, quantum anomaly and quasiexactly solvable systems. Nucl. Phys. B606, 583–612 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0012023
- Jentschura, U.D., Zinn-Justin, J.: Instantons in quantum mechanics and resurgent expansions. Phys. Lett. B596, 138–144 (2004). arXiv:hep-ph/0405279
- Ünsal, M.: Magnetic bion condensation: a New mechanism of confinement and mass gap in four dimensions. Phys. Rev. D80, 065001 (2009). arXiv:0709.3269
- Basar, G., Cherman, A., Dorigoni, D., Ünsal, M.: Volume independence in the large N limit and an emergent fermionic symmetry. Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 121601 (2013). arXiv:1306.2960
- Balitsky, I., Yung, A.: Instanton molecular vacuum in N = 1 supersymmetric quantum mechanics. Nucl. Phys. B274, 475 (1986)
- 69. Vilenkin, N.: Translations of Mathematical Monographs: Special Functions and the Theory of Group Representations. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1968)
- Olver F.W., Lozier D.M., Boisvert, R.F., Clark, C.W. (eds.): Digital Library of Mathematical Functions: Online Companion to NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions (CUP). National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg (2010)
- Gahramanov, I., Tezgin, K.: Remark on the Dunne–Ünsal relation in exact semiclassics. Phys. Rev. D93, 065037 (2016). arXiv:1512.08466
- Zinn-Justin, J., Jentschura, U.D.: Multi-instantons and exact results. I: Conjectures, WKB expansions, and instanton interactions. Ann. Phys. 313, 197–267 (2004). arXiv:quant-ph/0501136
- Zinn-Justin, J., Jentschura, U.D.: Multi-instantons and exact results. II: Specific cases, higher-order effects, and numerical calculations. Ann. Phys. 313, 269–325 (2004). arXiv:quant-ph/0501137
- Aoyama, H., Kikuchi, H., Okouchi, I., Sato, M., Wada, S.: Valley views: instantons, large order behaviors, and supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B553, 644–710 (1999). arXiv:hep-th/9808034
- Aoyama, H., Sato, M., Tanaka, T.: N fold supersymmetry in quantum mechanics: general formalism. Nucl. Phys. B619, 105–127 (2001). arXiv:quant-ph/0106037
- Verbaarschot, J.J.M., West, P.C.: Instantons and Borel resummability for the perturbed supersymmetric anharmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev. D43, 2718–2725 (1991)
- Verbaarschot, J.J.M., West, P.C., Wu, T.T.: Large order behavior of the supersymmetric anharmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev. D42, 1276–1284 (1990)
- 78. Sulejmanpasic, T.: Global symmetries, volume independence and continuity. arXiv:1610.04009
- Basar, G., Cherman, A., McGady, D.A.: Bose–Fermi degeneracies in large N adjoint QCD. JHEP 07, 016 (2015). arXiv:1409.1617
- Basar, G., Cherman, A., Dienes, K.R., McGady, D.A.: Modularity and 4D-2D spectral equivalences for large-N gauge theories with adjoint matter. JHEP 06, 148 (2016). arXiv:1512.07918
- AURORASCIENCE COLLABORATION collaboration, Cristoforetti, M., Di Renzo, F., Scorzato, L.: New approach to the sign problem in quantum field theories: high density QCD on a Lefschetz thimble. Phys. Rev. D86, 074506 (2012). arXiv:1205.3996
- Cristoforetti, M., Di Renzo, F., Mukherjee, A., Scorzato, L.: Monte Carlo simulations on the Lefschetz thimble: taming the sign problem. Phys. Rev. D88, 051501 (2013). arXiv:1303.7204
- Fujii, H., Honda, D., Kato, M., Kikukawa, Y., Komatsu, S., et al.: Hybrid Monte Carlo on Lefschetz thimbles—a study of the residual sign problem. JHEP 1310, 147 (2013). arXiv:1309.4371
- Aarts, G., Bongiovanni, L., Seiler, E., Sexty, D.: Some remarks on Lefschetz thimbles and complex Langevin dynamics. JHEP 1410, 159 (2014). arXiv:1407.2090
- Witten, E.: Analytic continuation Of Chern–Simons theory. AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 50, 347–446 (2011). arXiv:1001.2933
- Dumlu, C.K., Dunne, G.V.: The Stokes phenomenon and Schwinger vacuum pair production in timedependent laser pulses. Phys. Rev. Lett. 104, 250402 (2010). arXiv:1004.2509

- Dumlu, C.K., Dunne, G.V.: Interference effects in Schwinger vacuum pair production for time-dependent laser pulses. Phys. Rev. D 83, 065028 (2011). arXiv:1102.2899
- Tanizaki, Y., Koike, T.: Real-time Feynman path integral with Picard–Lefschetz theory and its applications to quantum tunneling. Ann. Phys. 351, 250–274 (2014). arXiv:1406.2386
- 89. Cherman, A., Ünsal, M.: Real-time feynman path integral realization of instantons. arXiv:1408.0012
- Tanizaki, Y., Hidaka, Y., Hayata, T.: Lefschetz-thimble analysis of the sign problem in one-site fermion model. New J. Phys. 18, 033002 (2016). arXiv:1509.07146
- Fujii, H., Kamata, S., Kikukawa, Y.: Lefschetz thimble structure in one-dimensional lattice Thirring model at finite density. JHEP 11, 078 (2015). arXiv:1509.08176
- 92. Alexandru, A., Basar, G., Bedaque, P.: Monte Carlo algorithm for simulating fermions on Lefschetz thimbles. Phys. Rev. **D93**, 014504 (2016). arXiv:1510.03258
- Hayata, T., Hidaka, Y., Tanizaki, Y.: Complex saddle points and the sign problem in complex Langevin simulation. Nucl. Phys. B911, 94–105 (2016). arXiv:1511.02437
- Alexandru, A., Basar, G., Bedaque, P.F., Ridgway, G.W., Warrington, N.C.: Sign problem and Monte Carlo calculations beyond Lefschetz thimbles. JHEP 05, 053 (2016). arXiv:1512.08764
- Alexandru, A., Basar, G., Bedaque, P.F., Vartak, S., Warrington, N.C.: Monte Carlo study of real time dynamics. arXiv:1605.08040
- Dunne, G.V., Unsal, M.: New methods in QFT and QCD: from large-N orbifold equivalence to bions and resurgence. arXiv:1601.03414
- 97. 't Hooft, G.: Can we make sense out of quantum chromodynamics?. Subnucl. Ser. 15, 943 (1979)

Communicated by N. Nekrasov